Effect of diesel oil exposure on behavioral, hemato-biochemical, and morphological changes of erythrocytes and recovery pattern analysis of Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*)

by A K M Munzurul Hasan©

A thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies In partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of

Master of Science

Boreal Ecosystems and Agricultural Science Memorial University of Newfoundland Grenfell Campus

February 2022

Abstract

Pollution due to petroleum oil by various means is becoming a threat to aquatic ecosystems. Hence, we carried out an experiment to explore how diesel oil affects the behavioral and physiological attributes of fish and how they recover by using Nile tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus) as a model organism. The Nile tilapia of 2 different treatment groups were exposed to 0.1 ml/l and 0.5 ml/l diesel oil for 7 days. Then both groups were kept in completely diesel oil free water for 14 days. A control group was maintained throughout the experimental period. We examined the behavioral attributes, hemato-biochemical parameters: hemoglobin (Hb), red blood cell (RBC), white blood cell (WBC) and glucose (Glu), and morphological changes of erythrocytes after diesel exposure and at the end of recovery phase. Our results revealed that there were abnormalities in behavior and significant changes in Hb, RBC, WBC and glucose levels in both of the treatment groups after 7 days of exposure. Frequencies of erythrocytic cellular abnormalities (ECAs), for example, twin, spindle, elongated, tear drop and erythrocytic nuclear abnormalities (ENAs) like notch nuclei, karyopyknosis, nuclear bud and nuclear bridge were prominent in both groups. However, the anomalies were higher in most if not all the cases in the 0.5 ml/l treatment group. Fish in both groups were quick to recover and the 0.1 ml/l group showed profound recovery than the 0.5 ml/l group. However, in the case of ECAs and ENAs, recovery of the 0.5 ml/l group was insignificant. Hence, our experimental study concluded that the higher the exposure to diesel oil, higher incidences of major health problems are recorded, seriously degrading the healing system of Nile tilapia.

Acknowledgement

I would like to first thank Professor Morteza Haghiri for his immense support, continuous inspiration, and guidance throughout my academic journey.

I would like to thank Professor Md Shahjahan for providing me an opportunity to work in his lab at Bangladesh Agricultural University, Bangladesh, during the COVID-19 pandemic situation when I was stuck in my home country and for his guidelines to complete my research work in his group. I especially thank my lab mates SM Majharul Islam and Syed Rubaiyat Ferdous for their outstanding support during my research experiment and data analysis. Without their continuous support, it would not be possible to complete my work.

Abstract	2
Acknowledgement	3
List of Tables	7
List of Abbreviations	8
CHAPTER 1	9
Introduction	9
CHAPTER 2	15
Literature Review	15
CHAPTER 3	27
Materials And Methods	27
3.1 Experimental fish	27
3.2 Test chemical	29
3.3 Exposure assessment	29
3.4 Recovery assessment	29
3.5 Behavioral analysis	
3.6 Measurement of haemato-biochemical parameters	
3.7 Analysis of morphological changes of erythrocytes	
3.8 Data analysis	35
3.9 Ethics Approval	35
CHAPTER 4	
Results	
4.1 Behavioral changes after exposure to diesel oil	
4.2 Recovery of behavioral changes	
4.3 Changes in hemato-biochemical parameters after exposure to diesel oil	
4.4 Recovery of hemato-biochemical parameters	41
4.5 Aberrations of erythrocytes at different concentrations of diesel oil exposure	41
4.6 Recovery response of erythrocytes	45
CHAPTER 5	47
Discussion	47
5.1 Behavior	47
5.2 Hemato-biochemical parameters	

Table of Contents

5.3 Morphology of erythrocytes	50
CONCLUSIONS	
SUGGESTIONS	
LIMITATIONS OF WORK	
REFERENCES	
NET ENERGES	JZ

List of Figures

Figure 1 Test fish species Oreochromis niloticus
Figure 2 Aquaria with different doses of diesel oil
Figure 3 Sample blood smearing procedure
Figure 4 Frequencies of erythrocyte abnormalities
Figure 5 Changes in hemato-biochemical parameters of Nile tilapia exposed to different
concentrations of diesel oil for 7 days and recovery for 14 days; a. Hb; b. RBC; c. WBC; and d.
glucose. Values with different alphabetical superscripts are significantly ($p < 0.05$) different.
Asterisk (*) indicates the significant difference between exposure and recovery. All values are
expressed as mean ± SD
Figure 6 Erythrocytic cellular abnormalities (ECAs) of Nile tilapia exposed to different
concentrations of diesel oil for 7 days and recovery for 14 days; a. twin, b. spindle, c. elongated
and d. tear drop
Figure 7 Erythrocytic nuclear abnormalities (ENAs) of Nile tilapia exposed to different
concentrations of diesel oil for 7 days and recovery for 14 days; a. notch, b. karyopyknosis, c.
nuclear bud and d. nuclear bridge

List of Tables

Table 1 Behavioral changes of Nile tilapia exposed to different concentrations of diesel oil for 7	
days and recovery for 14 days	;7
Table 2 Erythrocytic cellular abnormalities (ECAs) of Nile tilapia exposed to different	
concentrations of diesel oil for 7 days and recovery for 14 days 4	2
Table 3 Erythrocytic nuclear abnormalities (ENAs) of Nile tilapia exposed to different	
concentrations of diesel oil for 7 days and recovery for 14 days 4	6

List of Abbreviations

ANOVA: Analyses of variance
ATP: Adenosine triphosphate
CAT: Catalase
DHW: Deepwater horizon
ECAs: Erythrocytic cellular abnormalities
ENAs: Erythrocytic nuclear abnormalities
Hb: Hemoglobin
HDL: High-density lipoprotein
PAHs: Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons
P _{crit} : Critical partial pressure of oxygen
RBC: White blood cell
SD: Standard deviation
TG: Triglyceride
WBC: Red blood cell
WSFs: Water solvent parts

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

1.1 Background:

Petroleum products are considered one of the most prominent toxicants in the aquatic environment (Pacheco and Santos, 2001). Over the past few decades, a significant volume of crude oil has been leaking into water bodies; the DWH explosion in 2010 in the Gulf of Mexico made a major oil spill in the marine environment in the history of the US (Camilli et al., 2012). Oil spills from different sources continued for an extended period following the DWH oil spill on the sea surface (Spier et al., 2013). PAHs toxicity differs in exposed species depending on the substance. Several studies on the effects of crude oil exposure on fish have discovered that PAHs are the most harmful and cardiotoxic to the fish species (Incardona et al., 2014). The quantity of crude oil decaying after spilling varies greatly across accidents, affecting the chemical composition and causing toxicity (Esbaugh et al., 2016). The presence of some compounds in crude oil may make it difficult for impacted individuals and populations to reproduce and survive. Tierney et al. (2013) found that fish may be exposed to oil through their gills, skins, and food, potentially negatively impacting the aquatic food web (Hylland, 2006). Crude oil exposure has been shown to increase death and cause physiological and morphological changes in fish during the developmental phases, including embryonic development. The presence of crude oil in the diet of Siamese fighting fish results in aggressive behavioral changes necessary for reproductive purposes (Naim et al., 2019). Daiani et al. (2015) reported that the alarm substance and swimming velocity of *Colossoma macropomum* reaction were reduced when exposed to crude oil. Much attention has been focused on studying oil exposure in fish during the past two decades (Cherr et al., 2017; Perrichon et al., 2017).

1.2 Problem Statement

Pollution in the aquatic ecosystem has prompted a significant effect due to the incredible expansion of anthropogenic contaminations (van der Oost et al., 2003). Among different types of pollution, petroleum hydrocarbon pollution has become a severe environmental issue because of containing a toxic substance and its ability to stay in the water for a long time being a stable compound. The fundamental sources of petroleum pollution in aquatic environments are oil transport pipelines, capacity tanks, collision of oil-carrying vehicles, and oil shale mining (Abdel-Tawwab., 2012). Toxic compounds in crude oil may cause serious impacts on some species including impairing their ability to persist and reproduce and may lead to acute and chronic toxicity of aquatic animals (Sørhus et al., 2021; Gissi et al., 2021). Crude oil can be found in natural environment in different forms; various evidence shows that it damages the morphology and physiology of fish in different stages and leads to mass mortality (Khan et al., 2005; Simonato et al., 2008). Subsequently, the investigation of oil exposure to fish has received significant consideration in the last few decades, and researchers have observed the long-term consequences of petroleum hydrocarbons on the feeding, growth, behavior, reproduction, and tissue damage of fish (Hedgpeth and Griffitt, 2016; Perrichon et al. 2016, 2017; Cherr et al. 2017; Cox et al. 2017). Change in blood parameters can be used for determining the health status of fish (Sharmin et al. 2016; Islam et al. 2019; Islam et al. 2020; Shahjahan et al. 2021; Li et al. 2021). For instance, hemoglobin (Hb) transports oxygen to diverse tissues in most cases. Hence the Hb concentration of the blood is frequently utilized to determine anomalies and pathological indicators of fish health (Shahjahan et al., 2020; Casanovas et al., 2021). Variations in the WBC count and changes in blood glucose concentration are employed as immunosuppressive biochemical indicators in fish (Kopp et al., 2010; Shahjahan et al., 2018). Morphological changes in blood cells are investigated in order to measure the health status of fish (Shahjahan et al. 2019; Fazio et al., 2020). For example, the formation of a micronucleus in erythrocytes can be an indicator of stress induced by pollution in the environment (Sadiqul et al., 2016; Shahjahan et al., 2019; Ré et al., 2021; Anifowoshe et al. 2021).

The Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) is one of the most significant freshwater fish species for global aquaculture, owing to its hardiness and ability to adapt in captivity (Hohlenwerger et al., 2016; Özdemir et al., 2018). The Nile tilapia is a widely used model organism in the field of ecotoxicology (Nogueira et al., 2011; Rahman et al., 2021). Different biochemical reactions have been portrayed in this fish through exposure to lethal compounds (Gold-Bouchot et al. 2006; Rodríguez-Fuentes and Gold-Bouchot 2004; Pereira Trídico et al. 2010). This species is widespread in laboratory studies and a suitable organism for monitoring the effects of xenobiotics (Abdel-Tawwab, 2012). Several authors (Abdel-Tawwab 2012; Nogueira et al. 2011; Freitas et al. 2020) have reported the effect of diesel and different lubricant oils on oxidative stress, histopathological alteration of tissues, growth and biotransformation enzymes. Although Nogueira et al. (2011) reported the biochemical biomarkers related to oxidative stress in Nile tilapia exposed to diesel oil, there is no available information regarding the alterations of behavior, hemato-biochemical parameters, erythrocytic abnormalities, and how it recovers after transferring to contaminated free water.

1.3 Research Objectives and Questions

The objective of this study was to assess the effect of diesel oil exposure on behavior, hematobiochemical parameters, erythrocytic abnormalities, and recovery patterns in Nile tilapia. To attain these objectives, we set the following main research questions:

a. What is the health condition of Nile tilapia after exposure to 0.1 and 0.5 ml/l of diesel oil?

b. How much Nile tilapia exposed to diesel oil can recover from different body abnormalities after transferring to freshwater?

c. What factors are associated with the different behavioral and physiological abnormalities of Nile tilapia?

To answer the above questions, we collected samples during diesel oil exposure time and after transferring fish into contaminated free freshwater.

1.4 Hypothesis of The Study

In this work, we hypothesized that the high concentration of diesel oil would significantly impact the behavioral pattern and overall hematobiochemical parameters of Nile tilapia. This research also hypothesized that the affected Nile tilapia would recover at the lowest concentration of diesel oil exposure.

1.5 Significance of the Study

This study will provide a broad understanding of how petroleum hydrocarbons affect Nile tilapia body performance. The existing literature investigated how different concentrations of crude oil impacts overall fish health. There is still a lack of knowledge of how PAHs influence the body performance of freshwater fish and the extent to which they are able to recover once transferred to unpolluted fresh water. This research will tell us the patterns of changes in fish behavior, Hb, glucose, RBC, and WBC numbers in Nile tilapia. It also describes how fish would recover their overall behavioral and physiological conditions when exposed to contamination-free water. This work will help establish improved environmental risk assessment models for petroleum hydrocarbons.

1.6 Organization of the Study

This study has been organized and divided into five chapters, investigating the effect of diesel oil on body performance and the recovery of Nile tilapia. The content of each chapter is as follows:

Chapter One: The main segment of this chapter is the background, research objectives, research questions, and hypothesis. The background section of this paper presents an overview of the impacts of petroleum hydrocarbons on aquatic organisms. The problem statement of this investigation overviewed the current issues of PAH's effect on fish that can the studied in this work. The research questions and hypothesis are based on how and to what extent diesel oil affects Nile tilapia and in which concentration its health condition might recover.

Chapter Two: In this chapter of the literature review, we discussed the general information of the last decades of petroleum hydrocarbon's impact on aquatic organisms. It mainly focused on the effects of toxicants on the fish body performances. Some literature gaps are also identified in this chapter.

Chapter Three: This chapter presents the materials and methods of this work, which broadly represent the different techniques employed to carry out this study. In this chapter, we also presented the ethical approval of this work.

Chapter Four: Chapter four presents the results of the study and also includes our data analysis. Some figures and tables of this work have been placed in this chapter.

Chapter Five: This chapter presents a discussion on the study findings and considers these results in comparison with existing literature. This chapter further describes how diesel oil impacts Nile tilapia and how it recovers when it transfers to the diesel-free water. The results of all parameters are compared with the other research findings. This chapter also provides a conclusion based on the research objectives and findings. It suggests further research on a cellular level and a high concentration effect of diesel oil. It also highlighted some limitations of our work.

CHAPTER 2

Literature Review

This chapter reviewed different research and review articles on the impact of PAHs on aquatic organisms over the past two decades.

Several studies found that fish embryos are highly sensitive to exposure to low concentrations of crude oil (Carls et al., 2005). It causes morphological and physiological alterations (Kirby et al., 2019, Laurel et al., 2019, Mager et al., 2018), lipid metabolism aberration (Laurel et al., 2019), cardiotoxicity (Carls et al., 2008), and swimming pattern alteration of fish (Mager et al. 2018). However, very few studies have addressed the effect of dispersed oil droplets on fish embryos toxicity (Carls et al., 2008, Hansen et al., 2019, Olsvik et al., 2011). The survival and feeding behavior of the larvae of Atlantic cod has no significant impact on the oil droplets ((Nordtug et al., 2011)) and oil droplets contribution was also insufficient to the embryos of zebrafish (Carls et al., 2008).

To better understand the toxicity mechanism of crude oil in fish visual function, (Magnuson et al., 2020) investigated the behavior, immunohistochemistry, and gene expression of zebrafish after exposure to oil. Previously, zebrafish were employed as model animals to better understand the way of PAH exposure throughout the early life stages of fish (Huang et al., 2013). Studies on eye-associated toxicity from PAH and crude oil exposure led to the selection of certain eye-specific and phototransduction genes (Houbrechts et al., 2016). Vision plays a significant role in teleost larvae foraging behavior and avoiding predators (Job et al., 1996). But the crude oil exposure to

fish larvae causes severe issues in the development and dysregulation of the eye and visual processing genes (Xu et al., 2018).

Behavioral response in the study of ecotoxicology is gaining fame due to its ability to correlate with ecological impacts and the physiological function of aquatic organisms (Scott and Sloman, 2004). Different contaminations can reduce the level of fish activity (Wang et al., 2018), enhance fish anxiety (Philibert et al., 2020), and limit the competition ability (Vignet et al., 2014). Contamination of fish populations with weathered or unweathered crude oil might reduce the fish movement levels (Wang et al., 2018), enhance apprehensive behaviors (Philibert et al., 2020), and limit the competition ability et al., 2020), and limit the competition of fish populations with weathered or unweathered crude oil might reduce the fish movement levels (Wang et al., 2018), enhance apprehensive behaviors (Philibert et al., 2020), and limit the competition ability within social order (Vignet et al., 2014). Chronic exposure to crude oil during the neurodevelopment of fish can have long-term effects on adult fish and their offspring (Philibert et al., 2019).

The effects of sunlight on oil spills in the marine environment have been known for more than 50 years (Kawahara et.al., 1969. After the Gulf of Mexico's oil spill, the researchers found sea surface oil protoxidized by the effect of sunlight by converting hydrocarbons into photoproducts, which contain oxygen (Overton et al., 1980). Oil photooxidation research continued for two decades and was summarized with several reviews (Hardy et al., 1977; Payne et al., 1985; Nicodem et al., 2021). The study of the photochemical fate of PAHs became more prominent in the early 2000s (Plata et al., 2008).

The models of oil spill dispersion investigate all processes affecting oil hydrocarbons to accurately predict the marine oil fate. However, as recently noted in models of oil spills in a review,

photooxidation is almost always absent in real-world scenarios (Keramea et al., 2021). A Lagrangian model on the basis of tracking irradiance of sea surface oil was recently used for the DWH oil spill (Vaz et al., 2021). Despite its simplicity, this model appears to have potential in the modeling of oil spill fields. The toxicity of oil was also studied recently in copepod and algae assays (Faksness et al., 2020). At the same time, Faksness et al (2020) found that evaporated samples were less toxic than the photo-oxidized oil.

Reactions of marine organisms to petroleum hydrocarbons range from attraction to avoidance, based on chemical components and their concentration. Kerosene is also used for the purpose of attraction and nourishment of American lobster, wherein some places, kerosene-dripping bricks are used as bait (Atema et al., 1976). Toxic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, which are the principal toxic components of crude oil, are not a concern for many marine flatfish and sciaenid species (Hinkle-Conn et al., 1998). There is evidence that certain chemicals in crude oil can influence the developmental habits of fish. Crude oil is referred to as a complicated chemical combination made up of thousands of components, and weathering occurs when low molecular weight hydrocarbons evaporate, leaving high molecular weight hydrocarbons less solubilized (Carls et al., 2019). Recent research found that three estuarine fish species, i.e., sailfin mollies, Gulf killifish, and sheepshead minnows, avoid medium and high concentrations of fresh oil mixed with sediment, but no major avoidance behavior was found in weathered crude oil (Martin et al., 2017). Several studies on the behavioral reactions investigation to crude oil showed avoidance in pink salmon, Caspian roach, and European seabass (Claireaux et al., 2018). Moreover, Caspian roach has been shown to no more extended avoidance of crude oil when their nares have been surgically occluded (Lari et al., 2015).

Polluted water by exposure to different toxic chemicals can cause an alteration of the morphological pattern of different organs in fish (Monteiro et al., 2005). The alteration of behavioral, biochemical, and hematological parameters is used as an indicator of fish health (Pimpão et al. 2007). Different physical and chemical changes in fish bodies because of exposure to the toxic chemical are indicated by the examination of blood parameters (Ambali et al. 2011). Anomalies and changes in the morphology of erythrocytes are considered essential bioindicators of oxidative stress in the fish body (Islam et al., 2019). Aside from this, micronuclei formation can occur by the effect of toxic chemicals in fish, and it is widely regarded as the most accurate biomarker for genetic modification (Sadiqul et al., 2016).

Karem et al. (2022) studied the effect of crude oil on embryonic metabolic response in zebrafish. They found that crude oil toxicity during the embryonic development increased the routine oxygen consumption and decreased the body mass and fish survival. These findings are supportive of the toxicological information for the red drum larvae exposed to the crude oil (Khursigara et al., 2017) and zebrafish larvae exposed to three different PAHs in oiled sediments (Vignet et al., 2014). The hatching time was the most susceptible to crude oil impacts on the mahi-mahi species (Mager et al., 2017). In Bay anchovy, the most significant harmful consequences of oil exposure happened during the embryonic and hatching stages (O'Shaughnessy et al., 2018). Arabian light fuel oil had no fatal impact on zebrafish embryos after exposure for 96-hours (Perrichon et al., 2016). Crude oil impacts the zebrafish's early life stages occurred mainly between the 3 and 6 days of exposure, which are the essential cardiovascular developmental stages of this fish species (Burggren et al., 2017). Thus, many other organs might be affected by oil exposure due to the disturbance cardiovascular system. Oil exposure during hatching may contribute to metabolism-boosting

activities. The lack of chorion as a protective barrier after hatching may also promote higher routine oxygen at different developmental stages of fish (Henn and Braunbeck, 2011). For example, swimming performance in mahi-mahi and zebrafish early life stages show severe physiological impairments during crude oil exposure (Mager et al., 2014). For larvae, during the three days of post-fertilization of fish, the existence of crude oil may alter the developmental trajectory of normal oxygen consumption (Karem et al. 2022).

Fish growth is an endpoint significantly affected by the different stressors in numerous physiological ways (Pasparakis et al., 2019). Crude oil exposure to fish during developmental stages often shows a body mass loss. Pink salmon embryos dramatically decreased their body mass and growth after exposure to the crude oil for 200 days (Heintz et al., 2000). Exposed fish on crude oil would lose their weight by around 50% more than unexposed fish if the relative growth rate disparity remained until fish matured. Rainbow trout larvae reduced body mass after exposure to the crude oil (Vosyliene et al., 2005). Exposure of arctic cod larvae to crude oil from DHW also reduced their growth (Nahrgang et al., 2016). The significant impact found on the three days of post-fertilization of zebrafish indicates that this period is the most crucial window for fish body mass and growth (Karem et al., 2022). Less body mass in larval zebrafish confirms prior results and extends them by 'mapping' crucial developmental windows for growth and body mass in embryonic developmental stages.

The Pcrit has long been used as a measurable indicator of hypoxia tolerance (Rogers et al., 2016, Burggren et al., 2019). Furthermore, P_{crit} is greater in larvae than adults in zebrafish, indicating a reduced ability to absorb oxygen in hypoxic conditions throughout the early life stages (Mandic et al., 2020). Even while early larval zebrafish cannot sustain normoxic levels of oxygen uptake in hypoxia, this does not mean they do not try to control oxygen intake in hypoxia. Zebrafish establish a ventilatory response of hypoxic on day four post-fertilization. This key defensive mechanism helps postpone the harmful effects of aquatic hypoxia on aerobic respiration (Pan et al., 2019). Even while regular oxygen intake varied roughly two-fold in the same fish, early embryonic life stages lack a tight connection of the numerous parameters impacting hypoxia tolerance. However, Karem et al. (2022) found Pcrit did not affect after exposure to the crude oil in larval zebrafish. Pcrit showed that hypoxia tolerance was not changed by 3–6 days of post-fertilization, but survival, body mass, or oxygen consumption changed by the crude oil exposure. This finding was supported by research on Atlantic croaker treated for 24 hours with crude oil at varied doses exhibited no variation in P_{crit} (Pan et al., 2018). Similarly, a red drum subjected to crude oil for 24 hours followed by hypoxia tolerance testing revealed no effect (Ackerly and Esbaugh, 2020). However, oil-exposed sole sub-adults demonstrated lower hypoxia tolerance, as shown by a 66% rise in P_{crit} (Davoodi et al., 2007). Further research on the impact of crude oil on P_{crit} in fishes of all ages is required.

Ireen et al. (2022) investigated cod polar fitness by exposing the different concentrations of crude oil, where they found crude oil intake with diet had no effect on the somatic growth index of polar codfish. It happened due to the use of a very low concentration of crude oil in the experiment, although it negatively affects the cellular levels (Bender et al., 2016). This finding is different from the previous investigation on other arctic codfish, where exposed fish had a lower growth after exposure to the crude oil (Nahrgang et al., 2019). However, dietary crude oil exposure studies in some other fishes have shown that PAH compounds have harmful impacts on the development of fish (Meador et al., 2006; Vignet et al., 2014).

The mortality of polar codfish was not connected to crude oil treatment but the inherent biological features of the experimental fish. Bender et al. (2018) reported increasing mortality of fish is around 35% in adult polar cod exposed to crude oil from June 2015 to January 2016. More mortality was observed in the early spring because polar codfish spawn and reduced their hepato-somatic index, and become more susceptible to death (Nahrgang et al., 2019). Parasites in arctic cod are responsible for mortality, regardless of crude oil exposure (Ireen et al., 2022). Parasite prevalence is higher (Simková et al., 2008), perhaps due to the immune response of parasites and energy changes during gonadal development (Sheldon and Verhulst, 1996). In fish, the reproductive process suppresses the immune system, allowing parasite infection and ultimately becoming a cause of death (Simková et al., 2008). According to the Bender et al. (2016) findings, polar cod were actively developing their gonads from July to January, which may have contributed to a greater parasite infection rate. Future research should include the prevalence of parasites as a determinant in the wild fish population's survival.

Blood parameters changes and high metabolic activity have been observed observed in the polar codfish due to the crude oil exposure (Vieweg et al., 2018; Nahrgang et al., 2019). The rise in diacylglycerol in the liver of exposed arctic codfish confirms the mobilization of energy stores (Carrasco and Mérida, 2007). Diacylglycerol is responsible for enhancing the phospholipid synthesis of polar codfish after crude oil exposure as it acts as a precursor for the synthesis of

phospholipids (Carrasco and Mérida, 2007). Phospholipids are essential for fish metabolic purposes (Tocher et al., 2008).

The oxidation of heme iron causes hemolytic anemia to ferric state in animals exposed to crude oil (Couillard and Leighton 1993). Hypoxia and animal mortality can happen due to the production of methemoglobin after crude oil exposure, even at low concentrations (Couillard and Leighton 1993). Acute exposure to PAHs may induce brain necrosis, neuronal cell death, and failure of the heart of fish (Barron et al. 2004). In hepatocytes, PAH detoxification and metabolism may produce more harmful metabolites than the original chemical, causing severe damage to the fish (Malakahmad et al., 2016). Because of the lipophilic properties of PHAs, they may accumulate in the lipid of the cell membrane. Thus, PAHs may damage the cell membrane's strength and permeability (Sinaei 2013). Sayed et al. (2018) observed that exposure to 4-Nonylphenol can enhance nuclear abnormalities, erythrocyte morphological changes, and hemolysis of medaka fish.

The liver is engaged in vital functions such as protein and cholesterol synthesis, drug metabolism, bile generation, and blood chemical management (Derikvandy et al., 2020). Histopathological damage in the liver of Mrigal carp subjected to diesel oil has previously been reported (Hameed and Al-Azawi 2016). Thus, monitoring major liver enzyme activity in blood may be a valuable liver health bio-indicator.

The harmful effects of petroleum chemicals on hepatocytes may be responsible for reducing albumin, total proteins, and globulins. Lipophilic substances can permeate the cell membrane and disrupt the operation of mitochondria, endoplasmic reticulum, golgi apparatus, and lysosomes (Gu

22

and Manautou 2012). Thus, total protein can be reduced due to the alteration of the golgi apparatus and endoplasmic reticulum in wastewater-exposed fish hepatocytes. Furthermore, reduced protein synthesis in hepatocytes may be owing to poor intestinal amino acid absorption and hepatic amino acid assimilation (Banaee et al. 2008).

Kidney disease may also lead to blood protein and amino acid deficiency (Rezaei et al., 2018). Moreover, increased proteolysis, renal and liver disease, and failure of protein synthesis might diminish blood protein levels (Hamed et al., 2021).

Fish exposed to petroleum effluent may have an altered balance of energy. Lipid metabolism disorder can decrease the TG levels of fish plasma due to exposure to petroleum wastewater (Alves et al., 2018). Baum et al. (2016) reported that coral reef fish's metabolic rate reduced after exposure to the PAHs.

Moreover, Mu et al. (2018) discovered that TG decrease in the embryos of zebrafish is linked to TG biosynthesis enzyme gene expression suppression. To offset the harmful effects of xenobiotics, glycogen breakdown may increase in fish exposed to petroleum effluent (Thiendedsakul et al., 2020). Glucose levels increased in tambaqui (Duarte et al. 2010) and perch fish (Peter et al. 2007) after exposure to crude oil and kerosene. The increased blood glucose level causes renal and kidney damage in affected fish (Hatami et al., 2019).

Fish exposed to PAHs effluent had higher overall cholesterol (Sakineh et al., 2021). The rise in cholesterol may be attributed to reduced HDL production and poor biliary cholesterol excretion

(Lavoie et al., 2016). After gasoline exposure, plasma and total cholesterol levels increased significantly in small terrestrial animals (Aberare et al., 2011). In fish, elevated cholesterol levels in the blood can be linked to poor metabolism of lipid from oil effluent exposure. The metabolic reaction to increased energy demand caused by effluent exposure might cause a rise in cholesterol (Sayed et al., 2017).

Alexis et al. (2021) studied that ambient oil exposure increases the risk of predation of the red drum fingerlings. In recent research, anxiety-like behavior in the different life stages of the red drum was tested (Rowsey et al., 2020). The hyperactivity in the fingerlings of red drum is comparable to the zebrafish larvae (Knecht et al., 2017) and gulf killifish (Brown et al., 2016) exposed to PAH. Ingenuity Pathway Analysis of transcriptome, which provides information and interpretation on "omics" data, also identified hyperactivity as a possible impact in red drum embryos after oil exposure (Xu et al., 2017). It is also unknown whether a similar route is active in the life stages of juveniles. Yet the data shows that oil exposure causes a behavioral change in fish that is characterized by hyperactivity (Xu et al., 2017), decreased anxiety (Rowsey et al., 2022), and lower sociability (Armstrong et al., 2019). These findings show that cardiorespiratory dysfunction causes ecological implications (nutrient cycles) for the endemic fish. Alexis et al. (2021) also investigated red drum behavioral impacts, and cognitive processes correspond better with downstream ecological threats, as assessed by predator avoidance. Some research on red drums embryos exposed to crude oil showed different craniofacial abnormalities and lowered cardiac output (Khursigara et al., 2017). According to transcriptomics, which is used to understand mRNA's expression pattern, six of the top ten most disturbed pathways in larval red drums were connected to neurological and cognitive function (Xu et al., 2017). Crude oil impacts on mahimahi to reduce the oil avoidance behavior shows that behavioral changes may be influenced by cognitive and neurological functions, which are key contributors to sublethal damages in fish after the oil exposure. Recent research shows that oil and PAH exposure affect fish olfaction and eyesight, potentially increasing predation. When exposed to oil, bicolor damselfish displayed reduced chemical alarm cue avoidance behaviors and a decreased chance of detecting a chemical alarm cue (Schlenker et al., 2019). Despite being able to detect oil, mahi-mahi that was acutely exposed to it showed less oil avoidance behavior than the control fish, indicating a problem in the central nervous system (Schlenker et al., 2019). The lens size of cunner, dourado, and red drum reduced after exposure to the crude oil for six months (Payne et al., 1978). However, most studies indicate decreased vision during oil exposure in the early life stages of fish, which alters the normal eye development.

Ada et al. (2021) studied the exposure of chemically disparate oil on zebrafish and found it has excellent oxidative stress in zebrafish, consistent with some previous research (Luch et al., 2015; Shi et al., 2015; Timme-Laragy et al., 2009). CAT activity increased in fish gills and reduced liver, which shows that gills are the main detoxifying organ for fish. A prior study (Sun et al., 2006) suggested that significant oxidative damage may have suppressed or impaired CAT induction in the liver. Overall, multiple findings suggest CAT may have a secondary function in enzymatic oxidative stress defense (Oliveira et al., 2008). Considering the inconsistent results following exposure to oil PAHs, catalase is regarded as a less stable biomarker. Milinkovitch et al. (2011) found that crude oil, which is chemically disrupted, has no significant alterations in catalase activities in fish. All these studies show how the response of antioxidants is influenced by the fish organ and the exposure circumstances to crude oil components.

The micronucleus was used to examine the genotoxic effect of pollutants by detecting DNA damage (Juan et al., 2021). Genotoxicity is a specific endpoint in investigating the toxicity of crude oil, and it may be studied at different levels of biological structure (Abdel-Massih et al., 2013). The micronucleus test detects chromosomal abnormalities in DNA (Bolognesi et al., 2011). Ada et al. (2021) observed crude oil exposure could enhance the micronuclei formation. Other studies revealed many micronuclei formation at comparable exposure dosages (Olivares-Rubio et al., 2020). Due to the high molecular weight of PAHs, it causes genotoxicity through biotransformation. Comparing several oil exposure experiments is challenging due to the great diversity of exposure settings and oil kinds. Acute exposure to zebrafish liver also produced more micronuclei (Johann et al., 2020). However, in situ micronucleus assays lack toxicokinetic and may be used to assess the ecotoxicological hazard of crude oil.

CHAPTER 3

Materials And Methods

3.1 Experimental fish

Healthy total two-hundred Nile tilapia fingerlings (mean length; 8.0 ± 0.5 cm and average body weight; 6.0 ± 0.2 g) (Figure 1) were collected from Bangladesh Fisheries Research Institute, Mymensingh. The collected fish was acclimatized in the laboratory for 15 days in natural photo-regime conditions into clean glass aquaria containing 30L of water. Commercial fish feed (Mega fish feed, Bangladesh) was fed by 5% of the total body weight twice a day, around 9.00 AM and 5.00 PM, during the acclimatization period. The experimental procedure and fish used in the experiment have been approved by the Animal Welfare and Ethical Committee, Bangladesh Agricultural University, Mymensingh.

The systematic position of Nile tilapia is given as follows:

Phylum: Chordata
Class: Actinopterygii
Order: Cichliformes
Family: Cichlidae
Genus: Oreochromis
Species: Oreochromis niloticus



Figure 1 Test fish species Oreochromis niloticus

3.2 Test chemical

The diesel oil was collected from a local market in Mymensingh, Bangladesh.

3.3 Exposure assessment

The one-hundred twenty Nile tilapia fingerlings were exposed to three different concentrations (0.0, 0.1, and 0.5 ml/L) of diesel oil for 7 days. The doses were taken on the basis of a study on tilapia by Nogueira et al. (2011). Water was exchanged every 24 h, and desired concentrations of diesel oil were added accordingly. At the end of 7 days of exposure, eight fish (n = 8) were sacrificed to collect blood samples for further analysis from each concentration.

3.4 Recovery assessment

After 7 days of exposure to diesel oil, the rest of the fish was reared for the next 14 days without diesel oil to monitor the recovery assessment. The water was changed daily, and the fish were fed twice in a day. At the end of 14 days post exposures, eight fish (n = 8) were sacrificed from each concentration.







Figure 2 Aquaria with different doses of diesel oil

3.5 Behavioral analysis

The fish were observed carefully from the outside to understand their behavioral pattern in all the aquaria during exposure and post-exposure. Their behavioral activities (feeding rate, gulping, gill motion, rate of locomotion) were recorded following the previous studies (Khatun et al., 2021). The findings were presented as severe abnormalities (>50%), moderate abnormalities (10-50%), mild abnormalities (<10%), and no abnormalities (0%).

3.6 Measurement of haemato-biochemical parameters

On every sampling day, fish were anesthetized through 5 ml/L of clove oil immediately after collecting from each aquarium. Blood was sampled from the caudal peduncle of each fish and kept immediately in an autoclaved centrifuge tube having 20 mM EDTA anticoagulant. The blood glucose level (mg/dL) and hemoglobin (Hb) content of fish were measured immediately after the collection of blood from the fish. The glucose and Hb were determined using a blood glucose meter and Hb strip through a digital EasyMate® GHb (Model-ET, 232) monitoring system. Furthermore, a Neubauer hemocytometer was used to count the RBC and WBC number under a light microscope according to standard procedure.

3.7 Analysis of morphological changes of erythrocytes

A detailed procedure for analyzing the morphological changes of erythrocytes was described by Shahjahan et al. (2019) and Jahan et al. (2019). In brief, the blood sample was smeared onto a clean microscopic slide immediately after the blood collection. The blood smear was then fixed by methanol after air-drying for 10 minutes, and finally, 5% Giesma solution was used for staining.

The slides were kept for air-dried after being rinsed with tap water. The slides were subsequently mounted with dibutylphthalate polystyrene xylene (DPX) and preserved at room temperature. An Electronic microscope (MCX100, Micros, Austria) was used to investigate the cellular and nuclear abnormalities of erythrocytes. From each of the slides, at least 2000 cells with intact cellular and nuclear membrane were counted. Erythrocytic cellular abnormalities can be categorized according to their condition. For instance, twin: where two cells are joined by the outer membrane. Spindle shape: the cell has two pointy ends and is somewhat rounded in the middle. Elongated cell: the lengths are unusual compared to the normal cell. Tear drop: slightly rounded or blunted shape. Different erythrocytic nuclear abnormalities (ENAs) at different sampling points were categorized according to Carrasco et al. (1990). For instance, cells without nuclear material having no nuclear shape were designated as notched nuclei, cells with condensed and clumped chromosomal substances with unusual membranes in the nucleus were considered as karyopyknosis, nuclei having evaginations like a bud were defined as nuclear bud, and thin filaments connecting individual nuclei were classified as a nuclear bridge.



Figure 3 Sample blood smearing procedure



Figure 4 Frequencies of erythrocyte abnormalities

3.8 Data analysis

Values of all the measured variables were presented as mean \pm standard deviation of the mean (SD). One-way analyses of variance (ANOVA) were performed using a post hoc Tukey's test to evaluate the statistically significant difference between the sampling points. To evaluate the significant difference among different concentrations of diesel oil, the Mann-Whitney U test and Bonferroni corrections were used. Here the treatment groups were the independent variable, and different hematological parameters and frequencies of ECAs and ENAs were the dependent variables. Statistical analyses were performed with PASW statistics 18.0 software (IBM SPSS statistics, Chicago, USA) where p < 0.05 was set as the statistical significance value.

3.9 Ethics Approval

The total procedure conducted in this experiment was approved by the Animal Care and Use committee of Bangladesh Agricultural University, Mymensingh (Approval Number: BAU-FoF/2020/004).

CHAPTER 4

Results

4.1 Behavioral changes after exposure to diesel oil

During the experimental period, no behavioral alterations were observed in the control group. Gulping and gill motion showed severe abnormalities (>50%) at a higher concentration (0.5 ml/l) of diesel oil. Moderate abnormalities (10-50%) of locomotion and feeding rate were detected at 0.1 ml/l of diesel oil exposure (Table 1).
Table 1 Behavioral changes of Nile tilapia exposed to different concentrations of diesel oil for 7 days and recovery for 14 days

Parameters	Diesel oil (ml/L)	Exposure (7 days)	Recovery (14 days)
Feeding rate	0.0	_	_
	0.1	++	+
	0.5	++	++
Gulping	0.0	_	-
	0.1	++	+
	0.5	+++	++
Gill motion	0.0	_	_
	0.1	++	_
	0.5	+++	++
Rate of locomotion	0.0	_	-
	0.1	+	+
	0.5	++	+

-, None (0%); +, mild (<10%); ++, moderate (10-50%); +++, severe (>50%)

4.2 Recovery of behavioral changes

Feeding rate, gulping, and rate of locomotion have shown mild abnormalities during the recovery period exposed to a lower dose of diesel oil. On the other hand, moderate abnormalities of feeding rate and gill motion were found in exposure to the higher concentration of diesel oil (Table 1).

4.3 Changes in hemato-biochemical parameters after exposure to diesel oil

Levels of different hemato-biochemical parameters (Hb, RBCs, WBCs, and glucose) of both control and different treatment groups were recorded after 7 days of diesel exposure (Figure 5). In the case of hemoglobin level (g/dl), fish exposed to 0.1 ml/l diesel showed a slight downfall compared to those of the control group, while the hemoglobin level of fish exposed to 0.5 ml/l diesel dropped significantly (p < 0.05). The RBC numbers (×10⁶/mm³) dwindled dramatically (p < 0.05) in both 0.1 ml/l and 0.5 ml/l treatment group as well. On the contrary, the WBC number (×10⁶/mm³) displayed an opposite scenario and escalated significantly. When it comes to glucose level (mg/dl), the 0.1 ml/l treatment group showed a small increase, whereas fish exposed to 0.5 ml/l diesel exhibited a significant upsurge (p < 0.05).





Figure 5 Changes in hemato-biochemical parameters of Nile tilapia exposed to different concentrations of diesel oil for 7 days and recovery for 14 days; a. Hb; b. RBC; c. WBC; and d. glucose. Values with different alphabetical superscripts are significantly (p < 0.05) different. Asterisk (*) indicates the significant difference between exposure and recovery. All values are expressed as mean \pm SD.

4.4 Recovery of hemato-biochemical parameters

Recovery of Hb, RBCs, WBCs, and glucose levels were measured after 14 days from the day of last diesel exposure (Figure 5). The control group demonstrated stability in all the different parameters except for glucose level, which was found to be increased significantly (p < 0.01). Hemoglobin level (g/dl) went up significantly and showed close resemblance with the control group in both of the treatment groups after 14 days of the recovery period. The same was the case for RBC numbers (×10⁶/mm³), where statistically noteworthy acceleration was noticed (p < 0.01). However, there were no major variations found in the WBC numbers (×10⁶/mm³) and glucose level (mg/dl) of both the recovery group.

4.5 Aberrations of erythrocytes at different concentrations of diesel oil exposure

Erythrocytic cellular abnormalities (ECAs) were detected in a different group of fish treated with diesel. Twin, spindle, elongated, tear drop (Figure 6) abnormalities were spotted. Frequencies of ECAs went up significantly (p < 0.05) in both of the treatment groups exposed to diesel in comparison with those of the control group (Table 2). In a similar fashion, erythrocytic nuclear abnormalities (ENAs) were also found to be significantly higher (p < 0.05) in the two treatment groups (Figure 7). An ample amount of notch nuclei, micronucleus, nuclei degeneration, nucleus, and nuclear bridge were present in both of the treatment groups (Table 3). However, though both the treatment group (0.1 ml/l and 0.5 ml/l diesel exposure) indicated a significant escalation of ECAs and ENAs, the aberrations between the two treatment groups of diesel were hardly noticeable.

ECA	Diesel oil (ml/L)	Exposure (7 days)	Recovery (14 days)
Twin	0.0	0.47 ± 0.02^a	0.40 ± 0.08
	0.1	0.53 ± 0.07^a	0.34 ± 0.18
	0.5	$1.04\pm0.11^{\text{b}}$	$0.64 \pm 0.13*$
Spindle	0.0	0.10 ± 0.13^a	$0.09\pm0.02^{\rm a}$
	0.1	0.15 ± 0.18^{ab}	$0.11\pm0.05^{\rm a}$
	0.5	$0.23\pm0.17^{\rm b}$	$0.18\pm0.09^{\text{b}}$
Elongated	0.0	0.20 ± 0.08^a	$0.18\pm0.03^{\rm a}$
	0.1	$0.46\pm0.11^{\text{b}}$	$0.24\pm0.14^{ab,\ast}$
	0.5	$0.47\pm0.14^{\text{b}}$	$0.42\pm0.19^{\text{b}}$
Tear-drop	0.0	0.13 ± 0.04^a	$0.14\pm0.09^{\rm a}$
	0.1	$0.91\pm0.07^{\rm b}$	$0.27 \pm 0.15^{ab,*}$
	0.5	1.15 ± 0.12^{b}	$0.91\pm0.19^{\text{b}}$

Table 2 Erythrocytic cellular abnormalities (ECAs) of Nile tilapia exposed to different concentrations of diesel oil for 7 days and recovery for 14 days

Values of a single cellular abnormalities in a column with different alphabetical superscripts are significantly (p < 0.05) different. Asterisk (*) indicates the significant difference between exposure and recovery in the row. All values are expressed as mean \pm SD. Three slides were prepared from each fish and 2000 cells were scored from each slide and at least three fishes were analyzed from each group.



Figure 6 Erythrocytic cellular abnormalities (ECAs) of Nile tilapia exposed to different concentrations of diesel oil for 7 days and recovery for 14 days; a. twin, b. spindle, c. elongated and d. tear drop.



Figure 7 Erythrocytic nuclear abnormalities (ENAs) of Nile tilapia exposed to different concentrations of diesel oil for 7 days and recovery for 14 days; a. notch, b. karyopyknosis, c. nuclear bud and d. nuclear bridge.

4.6 Recovery response of erythrocytes

Recovery of ECAs and ENAs were observed after 14 days of recovery period. Fish of the control group displayed a substantial constancy in the case of ECAs and ENAs throughout the experimental period. Fish exposed to 0.1 ml/l diesel exhibited an instant and decent decrease in ECAs (Table 2) and ENAs (Table 3), whereas fish exposed to 0.5 ml/l diesel were much slower to recovery response.

ENA	Diesel oil (ml/L)	Exposure (7 days)	Recovery (14 days)
Notch nuclei	0.0	$0.14\pm0.03^{\rm a}$	0.11 ± 0.04^{a}
	0.1	0.63 ± 0.09^{b}	$0.16 \pm 0.12^{ab,*}$
	0.5	0.72 ± 0.14^{b}	$0.40\pm0.10^{\mathrm{b}}$
Karyopyknosis	0.0	$0.17\pm0.03^{\rm a}$	0.14 ± 0.01^{a}
	0.1	$0.31\pm0.07^{\rm b}$	0.18 ± 0.11^{a}
	0.5	0.38 ± 0.10^{b}	0.22 ± 0.12 ^{a,*}
Nuclear bud	0.0	$0.19\pm0.04^{\rm a}$	0.12 ± 0.03^{a}
	0.1	0.24 ± 0.09^{ab}	0.20 ± 0.07^{ab}
	0.5	$0.33\pm0.05^{\text{b}}$	$0.30\pm0.06^{\text{b}}$
Nuclear bridge	0.0	0.19 ± 0.09^{a}	0.16 ± 0.09^{a}
	0.1	0.56 ± 0.13^{b}	$0.29 \pm 0.06^{ab,*}$
	0.5	0.88 ± 0.17^{b}	0.64 ± 0.11^{b}

Table 3 Erythrocytic nuclear abnormalities (ENAs) of Nile tilapia exposed to different concentrations of diesel oil for 7 days and recovery for 14 days

Values of a single cellular abnormalities in a column with different alphabetical superscripts are significantly (p < 0.05) different. Asterisk (*) indicates the significant difference between exposure and recovery in the row. All values are expressed as mean \pm SD. Three slides were prepared from each fish and 2000 cells were scored from each slide and at least three fishes were analyzed from each group.

CHAPTER 5

Discussion

5.1 Behavior

Petroleum pollutant like diesel is considered a serious threat to water-living creatures because they contain toxic substance and their ability to stay in the water for a long time, being stable compound. In the present study, several behavioral changes, including low feeding rate, gulping, lack of locomotion, and abnormalities in the gill motion, were observed in both the 0.1 ml/l and 0.5 ml/l treatment group, and as expected, the latter group showed severity in every case because of a higher dose which can be compared with the findings of Armstrong et al. (2019) and Bautista et al. (2019). The abnormality in gill motion might have resulted from diesel clogged in the gill. Besides, diesel did not mix with water and made a layer on the water surface, which prevented the atmospheric oxygen from mixing up and might give rise to lower dissolved oxygen levels and gulping. It is possible that it might have happened due to gill injury or a change in gill morphology. The osmoregulatory function can be affected by the toxic substances through gill injury and cease the oxygen intake of aquatic organisms (Saravana and Geraldine., 2000). Fish of 0.5 ml/l dose showed inertia and low food intake, which is similar to Kori-Siakpere (2000), who stated that fish presented to WSFs of unrefined petroleum could result in diminished feed admission and low body weight. Dede and Kaglo (2001) detailed that the endurance of Nile tilapia diminished by expanding the centralization of diesel fuel. After 14 days of the recovery period, the abnormal behavior almost disappeared, especially in the 0.1 ml/l treatment group. Though fish of the 0.5 ml/l treatment group did not show complete normal behavior, the progress was somewhat significant. From this, it can

be said that if the toxicant level of diesel is low and if the pollutant can be removed from the water, fish can recover from their abnormal behavior quickly.

5.2 Hemato-biochemical parameters

Hematological and biochemical parameters are considered decent indicators to know whether the fish are in stressful conditions because of aquatic environmental pollutants (Ashaf-Ud-Doulah et al., 2020; Shahjahan et al., 2021). We found moderate to severe aberration of the hematobiochemical parameter in our sample treated with diesel, and in every case, the sample exposed to a higher dose (0.5 ml/l) showed greater anomaly compared to a lower dose (0.1 ml/l). In our present study, a higher dose of diesel oil exposure in Nile tilapia significantly decreased the Hb and RBC, and it is possible that it might have resulted from the breakdown of the hematopoietic system as cessation of the hematopoietic system was severe under the critical condition. The low count of RBC might have resulted from a severe anemic state or from hemolysing power of toxicant, particularly on the red cell membrane. A massive decline in Hb level in the 0.5 ml/l treatment group might debilitate oxygen supply to different tissues and might result in a sluggish rate and low energy creation. The critical diminishing in the Hb fixation might have been caused due to an expansion in the rate at which the Hb was obliterating or from waning in the pace of Hb synthesis resulting from the toxic effect of diesel. Cessation of Hb and RBCs with an increased percentage of erythroblast abnormalities due to pollution was also found in striped catfish (Shahjahan et al. 2018) and common carp, Cyprinus carpio (Gupta et al. 2014; Shahjahan et al. 2020). Similarly, Gurung et al. (2021) reported that crude oil exposure during organogenesis induced greater teratogenic effects on halibut, disturbances cardiovascular flow of embryonic Gulf killifish. We

found that both of the treatment groups displayed greater WBC numbers after diesel exposure. The increment in the WBC count can be related to the immune response creation, which helps in the endurance and recuperation of the fish exposed to diesel (Joshi et al. 2002). In the current study, the critical expansion in the WBC count may be showed hypersensitivity of leucocytes to diesel and these progressions might be because of immunological responses to create antibodies to cope with the stress initiated by diesel. Changes in blood glucose have been proposed as a helpful general marker of stress in teleost. The acceleration in glucose level also indicated the secretion of cortisol, a stress hormone. Under unpleasant conditions, cortisol provides the body with glucose by taking advantage of protein stores through gluconeogenesis in the liver. This energy can help to battle or escape a stressor. In our study, the huge increment of plasma glucose level might have occurred because of gluconeogenesis to give energy to the expanded metabolic demands due to stress. The building and emission of glucocorticoids and catecholamines cause hyperglycemia. Excess stress provokes the production of these hormones from the adrenal tissue, which eventually augments the gluconeogenesis processes in stressed fish (Winkaler et al., 2007). Higher glucose level was also reported as an indicator of stress in several fish species under various stress conditions (Agrahari et al. 2007; Ahmed et al. 2016; Alaguprathana and Poonkothai 2021). So, it is clear that fish can be greatly stressed by diesel, especially when the amount of pollutants is higher. After the recovery phase, all the blood parameters were found to be improved and showed similarity with the control group, particularly fish exposed to 0.1 ml/l diesel. Though both of the treatment group recovered greatly from low Hb and RBC level, in the case of WBC and glucose level, the improvement were less significant, which indicate that the immune system of fish is still in action and fish have not completely recovered from stress.

5.3 Morphology of erythrocytes

We found several abnormalities in the erythrocytes of the treatment group. The frequencies of aberrations were higher in the 0.5 ml/l treatment group compared to the 0.1 ml/l treatment group. As erythrocytes react to environmental stressors, any alteration (cellular and nuclear) can be read as the presence of toxicants in the water. Erythrocytic cellular abnormalities, for example, twin, elongated, spindle shaped, tear drop shaped were observed. It could have resulted from the increase in lipid peroxidation in erythrocytes induced by stress due to diesel exposure (Sadiqul et al., 2016). Toxic compounds in diesel can disrupt the chain of cellular modification and may lead to hypoxic conditions. As a result, it can desolate the ATP, which may disturb the structure of the erythrocyte. Abnormalities in the nucleus, for instance, nuclear bridge, micronucleus, notched nuclei, were observed in the treatment group, which indicates the genotoxicity of diesel oil (Bai et al., 2014; Ghaffar et al., 2015; Islam et al., 2020). The previous report shows that toxic compounds can potentially disturb the structure of cell membrane, metabolism, and ion permeability of erythrocytes which can damage the erythrocyte formation morphologically. Crude oil causes micronuclei development and other nuclear abnormalities in the erythrocytes and cephalic kidney of Atlantic cod, Gadus morua, and turbot, Scophthalmus maximus (Baršienė et al. 2006). After 14 days of the recovery period, the amount of ECAs and ENAs started to vanish, and the improvement was much higher in the 0.1 ml/l treatment group. However, the other group (0.5 ml/l) did not show any significant improvement. Though we found the blood parameters like Hb, RBC, WBC, glucose levels improved in quite a good way in this group, it was not the case when it came to erythrocytic abnormalities. It was beyond were capacity to determine whether the damages were permanent or would it lead to a severe health problem for fish in the 0.5 ml/l treatment group.

CONCLUSIONS

The study reveals that the toxic effect of diesel has a severe effect on the behavior, hematobiochemical parameters and morphology of erythrocytes of a teleost fish and can lead to extreme metabolic stress even if the exposure is for a short time and in a lower amount. It also showed that fish could quickly recover from the abnormalities, given that the pollutant's intensity is lesser and completely absent while recovering. If the concentration is higher, the consequences may be harsh, and recovery is not completely certain, particularly at the cellular level.

SUGGESTIONS

In this research, we investigated how diesel oil affects behavioral, hemato-biochemical and changes the structure of erythrocytes in Nile tilapia. More research warrants knowing whether the toxicants in diesel concentrate in the cellular system and to what extent they can damage different organs when the exposure is greater. In addition to that, we also suggest investigating the transgenerational effect of this toxicants to the early developmental stages of fish and how they affect neurophysiology fish.

LIMITATIONS OF WORK

The current COVID-19 pandemic situation impacts overall to our research work. In addition to that, we could not conduct a molecular investigation due to the limitation of research funding and facilities.

REFERENCES

- Abdel-Massih, R. M., Melki, P. N., Afif, C. and Daoud, Z. (2013). Detection of genotoxicity in hospital wastewater of a developing country using SOS chromotest and Ames fluctuation test. *International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, 2(4), 1–8.
- Abdel-Tawwab, M. (2012). Chronic effect after acute exposure to commercial petroleum fuels on physiological status of Nile tilapia, *Oreochromis niloticus* (L.). *International Aquatic Research*, 4, 11.
- Agrahari, S., Pandey, K. C. and Gopal, K. (2007). Biochemical alterations induced by monocrotophos in the blood plasma of fish *Channa punctatus* (Bloch). *Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology*, 88, 268-272.
- Ahmed, S.I., Zahangir, M. M., Haque, F., Ahmmed, M. K., Shahjahan, M. (2016). Alteration of blood glucose and hemoglobin levels in zebrafish exposed to sumithion. *Progressive Agriculture*, 27(2), 216-221.
- Alaguprathana, M. and Poonkothai, M. (2021). Haematological, biochemical, enzymological and histological responses of *Labeo rohita* exposed to methyl orange dye solution treated with Oedogonium subplagiostomum AP1. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 28(14), 17602-17612.
- Alves-Bezerra, M. and Cohen, D. E. (2018). Triglyceride metabolism in the liver. *Comprehensive Physiology* 8(1), 1–8.
- Ambali ,S.F., Ayo, J.O., Esievo, K. A. N. and Ojo, S. A. (2011). Hemotoxicity induced by chronic chlorpyrifos exposure in Wistar Rats: mitigating effect of vitamin C. Veterinary Medicine International, 945439, 7
- Anifowoshe, A. T., Oladipo, S. O., Oyinloye, A. N., Opute, A., Odofin, E., Aiki O., Abdulrahim, M. Y., Akinseye, K. M. and Iyiola, O. A. (2021). Cellular stress response, induction of micronuclei and DNA strand breaks in two common fish species of Rivers and Reservoirs in Ilorin, North Central, Nigeria. 10.21203/rs.3.rs-172188/v1
- Armstrong, T., Khursigara, A. J., Killen, S. S., Fearnley, H., Parsons, K. J. and Esbaugh, A. J. (2019). Oil exposure alters social group cohesion in fish. *Scientific Reports*, *9*, 13520.
- Ashaf-Ud-Doulah, M,. Mamun, A. A., Rahman, M. L., Islam, S. M. M., Jannat, R., Hossain, M.A. R. and Shahjahan, M. (2020). High temperature acclimation alters upper thermal limits

and growth performance of Indian major carp, rohu, *Labeo rohita* (Hamilton, 1822). *Journal of Thermal Biology*, *93*, 102738.

- Atema, J. (1976). Sublethal effects of petroleum fractions on the behavior of the lobster, Homarus americanus, and the mud snail, Nassarius obsoletus. Academic Press, New York, 1, 382–412
- Bai, M. M., Divya, K., Haseena, B. S. K., Sailaja, G., Sandhya, D. and Thyagaraju, K., (2014). Evaluation of genotoxic and lipid peroxidation effect of cadmium in developing chick embryos. *Journal of Environmental and Analytical Toxicology 4*, 238.
- Barron, M. G., Carls, M. G., Heintz, R. and Rice, S. D. (2004). Evaluation of fish early life-stage toxicity models of chronic embryonic exposures to complex polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon mixtures. *Toxicological Sciences*, 78(1), 60–67.
- Baršienė, J., Dedonytė, V., Rybakovas, A., Andreikėnaitė, L. and Andersen, O. K. (2006). Investigation of micronuclei and other nuclear abnormalities in peripheral blood and kidney of marine fish treated with crude oil. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 78, 99-104.
- Baum, G., Kegler, P., Scholz-Böttcher, B. M., Alfiansah, Y.R., Abrar, M. and Kunzmann, A. (2016). Metabolic performance of the coral reef fish *Siganus guttatus* exposed to combinations of water borne diesel, an anionic surfactant and elevated temperature in Indonesia. *Marine Pollution Bullatin 110*(2), 735–746.
- Bautista, N. M., Pothini, T., Meng, K. and Burggren, W. W. (2019) Behavioral consequences of dietary exposure to crude oil extracts in the Siamese fighting fish (*Betta splendens*). *Aquatic Toxicology* 207, 34-42.
- Bautista, N. M., Pothini, T., Meng, K., and Burggren, W. W. (2019). Behavioral consequences of dietary exposure to crude oil extracts in the Siamese fighting fish (Betta splendens). *Aquatic Toxicology*, 207 (October 2018), 34–42.
- Bender, M. L., Frantzen, M., Camus, L., Le, F. S., Palerud, J. and Nahrgang, J. (2018). Effects of acute exposure to dispersed oil and burned oil residue on long-term survival, growth, and reproductive development in polar cod (*Boreogadus saida*). *Marine Environment Research* 140, 468–477.
- Bender, M.L., Frantzen, M., Vieweg, I., Falk-Petersen, I. B., Johnsen, H. K., Rudolfsen, G., Tollefsen, K. E., Dubourg, P. and Nahrgang, J. (2016). Effects of chronic dietary petroleum

exposure on reproductive development in polar cod (Boreogadus saida). Aquatic Toxicology 180, 196–208.

- Bolognesi, C. and Hayashi, M. (2011). Micronucleus assay in aquatic animals. *Mutagenesis* 26(1), 205–213
- Brown, D. R., Bailey, J. M., Oliveri, A. N., Levin, E. D. and Di Giulio, R. T. (2016). Developmental exposure to a complex PAH mixture causes persistent behavioral effects in naive *Fundulus heteroclitus* (killifish) but not in a population of PAH-adapted killifish. *Neurotoxicology and Teratology*, 53, 55–63.
- Burggren, W. W., Arriaga-Bernal, J. C., M'endez-Arzate, P. M. and M'endez-Sanchez, J. F. (2019). Metabolic physiology of the Mayan cichlid fish (*Mayaheros uropthalmus*): reexamination of classification as an oxyconformer. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology*, 237, 110538
- Burggren, W.W., Dubansky, B. and Bautista, N. M. (2017). Cardiovascular development in embryonic and larval fishes. *Fish Physiology 36*, 107–184.
- Camilli, R., Di Iorio, D., Bowen, A., Reddy, C. M., Techet, A. H., Yoerger, D. R., Whitcomb, L. L., Seewald, J. S., Sylva, S. P. and Fenwick, J. (2012). Acoustic measurement of the Deepwater Horizon Macondo well flow rate. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 109(50), 20235–20239.
- Carls, M. G., Holland, L., Larsen, M., Collier, T. K., Scholz, N. L. and Incardona, J. P. (2008). Fish embryos are damaged by dissolved PAHs, not oil particles. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 88(2), 121–127.
- Carls, M. G. and Meador, J. P. (2009). A Perspective on the Toxicity of Petrogenic PAHs to Developing Fish Embryos Related to Environmental Chemistry. *Human and Ecological Risk Assessment*, 15(6), 1084–1098.
- Carrasco, K. R., Tilbury, K. L. and Myers, M. S. (1990). Assessment of the piscine micronucleus test as an in situ biological indicator of chemical contaminant effects. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 47, 2123-2436.
- Carrasco, S. and M´erida, I., 2007. Diacylglycerol, when simplicity becomes complex. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, *32*, 27–36.
- Casanovas, P., Walker, S. P., Johnston, H., Johnston, C. and Symonds, J. E. (2021). Comparative assessment of blood biochemistry and haematology normal ranges between Chinook

salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) from seawater and freshwater farms. *Aquaculture* 537, 736464.

- Cherr, G. N., Fairbairn, E. and Whitehead, A. (2017) Impacts of petroleum-derived pollutants on fish development. *Annual Review of Animal Biosciences*, *5*, 185-203.
- Claireaux, G., Queau, P., Marras, S., Le Floch, S., Farrell, A. P., Nicolas-Kopec, A., Lemaire, P. and Domenici, P. (2018). Avoidance threshold to oil water-soluble fraction by a juvenile marine teleost fish. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 37 (3), 854–859.
- Couillard, C. M., Leighton, F. A. (1993) In vitro red blood cell assay for oxidant toxicity of petroleum oil. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, *12*, 839–845
- Cox, G. K., Crossley, D. A., Stieglitz, J. D., Heuer, R. M., Benetti, D. D. and Grosell, M. (2017) Oil exposure impairs in situ cardiac function in response to β-Adrenergic stimulation in cobia (*Rachycentron canadum*). *Environmental Science and Technology*, *51*, 14390-14396.
- Davenport, J., Lonning, S. and Kjorsvik, E. (1981). Osmotic and structural changes during early development of eggs and larvae of the cod, *Gadus morhua* L. *Journal of Fisheries Biology*, *19*, 317–331.
- Dede, E. B. and Kaglo, H. O. (2001). Aqua-toxicological effects of water soluble fraction (WSF) of diesel fuel on *Oreochromis niloticus* fingerlings. *Journal of Applied Sciences and Environmental Management*, *5*, 93-96.
- Derikvandy, A., Pourkhabbaz, H. R., Banaee, M., Sureda, A., Nematdoost, H. B. and Pourkhabbaz,
 A. R. (2020) Genotoxicity and oxidative damage in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) after exposure to effluent from ethyl alcohol industry. *Chemosphere*. 251, 126609.
- Drummond, I.A., Majumdar, A., Hentschel, H., Elger, M., Solnica-Krezel, L., Schier, A.F., Neuhauss, S.C., Stemple, D.L., Zwartkruis, F., Rangini, Z., et al., (1998). Early development of the zebrafish pronephros and analysis of mutations affecting pronephric function. *Development*. 125(23), 4655–4667.
- Duarte, R. M., Honda, R. T. and Val, A. L. (2010). Acute effects of chemically dispersed crude oil on gill ion regulation, plasma ion levels and haematological parameters in tambaqui (*Colossoma macropomum*). Aquatic Toxicology 97(2):134–141.

- Eckle, P., Burgherr, P. and Michaux, E. (2012). Risk of large oil spills: a statistical analysis in the aftermath of Deepwater Horizon. *Environmental Science and Technology* 46(23), 13002– 13008.
- Esbaugh, A. J., Mager, E. M., Stieglitz, J. D., Hoenig, R., Brown, T. L., French, B. L., Linbo, T. L., Lay, C., Forth, H., Scholz, N. L., Incardona, J. P., Morris, J. M., Benetti, D. D. and Grosell, M. (2016). The effects of weathering and chemical dispersion on Deepwater Horizon crude oil toxicity to mahi-mahi (*Coryphaena hippurus*) early life stages. *Science of the Total Environment*, 543, 644–651.
- Esteban-Sánchez, A., Sarah, J., Dennis, A. P., Henner, H., Thomas, B. S. and Amaia, O. (2021). Multilevel Responses of Adult Zebrafish to Crude and Chemically Dispersed Oil Exposure. *Environmental Sciences Europe 33* (1).
- Faksness, L. G., Altin, D., Størseth, T. R., Nordtug, T. and Hansen, B. H. (2020). Comparison of artificially weathered Macondo oil with field samples and evidence that weathering does not increase environmental acute toxicity. *Marine Environmental Research*, 157, 104928.
- Fazio, F., Lanteri, G., Saoca, C., Iaria, C., Piccione, G., Orefice, T., Calabrese, E. and Vazzana, I. (2020). Individual variability of blood parameters in striped bass *Morone saxatilis*: possible differences related to weight and length. *Aquaculture International*, 28, 1665-1673.
- Forth, H.P., Mitchelmore, C.L., Morris, J.M. and Lipton, J. (2017). Characterization of oil and water accommodated fractions used to conduct aquatic toxicity testing in support of the Deepwater Horizon oil spill natural resource damage assessment. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 36(6), 1450–1459.
- Freitas, J. S., Pereira, T. S. B., Boscolo, C. N. P., Garcia, M. N., de Oliveira Ribeiro C. A. and de Almeida, E. A. (2020) Oxidative stress, biotransformation enzymes and histopathological alterations in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) exposed to new and used automotive lubricant oil. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Toxicology & Pharmacology, 234, 108770.*
- Gerlach, G.F. and Wingert, R.A. (2013). Kidney organogenesis in the zebrafish: insights into vertebrate nephrogenesis and regeneration. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Developmental Biology, 2(5), 559–585.

- Ghaffar, A., Riaz, H., Ahrar, K. and Abbas, R. Z. (2015) Hemato-biochemical and genetic damage caused by triazophos in freshwater fish *Labeo rohita*. *International Journal of Agriculture And Biology*, 17, 637-642.
- Gissi F, Strzelecki J, Binet MT, Golding LA, Adams MS, Elsdon TS, Robertson T, Hook SE (2021) A comparison of short-term and continuous exposures in toxicity tests of produced waters, condensate, and crude oil to marine invertebrates and fish. Environ Toxicol Chem 40(9): 2587-2600.
- Gold-Bouchot, G., Zapata-Perez, O., Rodriguez-Fuentes, G., Ceja-Moreno, V., del Rio-Garcia, M. and Chan-Cocom, E. (2006). Biomarkers and pollutants in the Nile Tilapia, *Oreochromis niloticus*, in four lakes from San Miguel, Chiapas, Mexico. *International Journal of Environment and Pollution*, 26, 1/2/3.
- Grosell, M. and Pasparakis, C. (2021). Physiological responses of fish to oil spills. *Annual Review* of Marine Sciences 13 (1).
- Gu, X. and Manautou, G. E. (2012). Molecular mechanisms underlying chemical liver injury. *Expert Reviews in Molecular Medicine*, *3*, 14:e4
- Gupta, S. K., Pal, A, K., Sahu, N. P., Saharan, N., Mandal, S. C., Prakash, C., Akhtar, M. S. and Prusty, A. K. (2014). Dietary microbial levan ameliorates stress and augments immunity in *Cyprinus carpio* fry (Linnaeus, 1758) exposed to sublethal toxicity of fipronil. *Aquaculture Research*, 45, 893-906.
- Gurung, S., Dubansky, B., Virgen, C. A., Verbeck, G. F. and Murphy, D. W. (2021). Effects of crude oil vapors on the cardiovascular flow of embryonic Gulf killifish. *Science of The Total Environment*, 751, 141627.
- Hamed, H. S., Ismal, S. M. and Faggio, C. (2021). Effect of allicin on antioxidant defense system, and immune response after carbofuran exposure in Nile tilapia, *Oreochromis niloticus*. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Toxicology & Pharmacology, 240,* 108919.
- Hameed, A. M. and Al-Azawi, A. J. (2016). Acute and Chronic Effects of Water Soluble Fraction WSF of Diesel Fuel on Common Carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L. 1758). *Journal of International Environmental Application and Science*, 11(4):331–345
- Hamidi, S., Mahdi B., Hamid R. P., Antoni, S., Saeid, K. and Ali, R. P. (2022). Effect of Petroleum Wastewater Treated with Gravity Separation and Magnetite Nanoparticles Adsorption

Methods on the Blood Biochemical Response of Mrigal Fish (*Cirrhinus Cirrhosus*). Environmental Science and Pollution Research 29 (3): 3718–32.

- Hansen, B. H., Parkerton, T., Nordtug, T., Størseth, T. R., & Redman, A. (2019). Modeling the toxicity of dissolved crude oil exposures to characterize the sensitivity of cod (*Gadus morhua*) larvae and role of individual and unresolved hydrocarbons. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 138, 286–294.
- Hardy, R., Mackie, P. R., Whittle, K. J. (1977). Hydrocarbons and Petroleum in the Marine Ecosystem: A Review, *Rapports Et Proces-verbaux Des Reunions (Denmark)*.
- Hatami, M., Banaee, M, and Nematdoost, H. B. (2019). Sub-lethal toxicity of chlorpyrifos alone and in combination with polyethylene glycol to common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*). *Chemosphere*, 219, 981–988.
- Hedgpeth, B. M. and Griffitt, R. J. (2016). Simultaneous exposure to chronic hypoxia and dissolved polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons results in reduced egg production and larval survival in the sheepshead minnow (*Cyprinodon variegatus*). *Environmental Toxicology* and Chemistry, 35, 645-651.
- Heintz, R. A., Rice, S. D., Wertheimer, A. C., Bradshaw, R. F., Thrower, F. P., Joyce, J.E. and Short, J.W. (2000). Delayed effects on growth and marine survival of pink salmon Oncorhynchus gorbuscha after exposure to crude oil during embryonic development. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 208, 205–216.
- Henn, K. and Braunbeck, T. (2011). Dechorionation as a tool to improve the fish embryo toxicity test (FET) with the zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Toxicology & Pharmacology, 153, 91–98.
- Hinkle-Conn, C., Fleeger, J. W., Gregg, J. C. and Carman, K. R. (1998). Effects of sediment-bound polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons on feeding behavior in juvenile spot (*Leiostomus xanthurus* Lacepede: Pisces). *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 227(1), 113–132.
- Hodson, P.V., Adams, J. and Brown, R.S. (2019). Oil toxicity test methods must be improved. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 38, 302–311.
- Hohlenwerger, J. C., Copatti, C. E., Sena, A. C., Couto, R. D., Baldisserotto, B., Heinzmann, B.M., Caron, B. O. and Schmidt, D. (2016). Could the essential oil of *Lippia alba* provide a

readily available and cost-effective anaesthetic for Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*)? *Marine and Freshwater Behaviour and Physiology*, 49, 119-126.

- Houbrechts, A. M.; Vergauwen, L.; Bagci, E.; Van houcke, J.; Heijlen, M.; Kulemeka, B.; Hyde,
 D. R.; Knapen, D.; Darras, V. M. Deiodinase Knockdown Affects Zebrafish Eye
 Development at the Level of Gene Expression, Morphology and Function. Mol. Cell.
 Endocrinol. 2016, 424, 81–93.
- Huang, L.; Wang, C.; Zhang, Y.; Wu, M.; Zuo, Z. Phenanthrene Causes Ocular Developmental Toxicity in Zebrafish Embryos and the Possible Mechanisms Involved. J. Hazard. Mater. 2013, 261, 172–180
- Hylland, K. (2006). Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon (PAH) ecotoxicology in marine ecosystems. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health - Part A, 69(1–2), 109–123. https://doi.org/10.1080/15287390500259327
- Incardona, J. P., Gardner, L. D., Linbo, T. L., Brown, T. L., Esbaugh, A. J., Mager, E. M., Stieglitz, J. D., French, B. L., Labenia, J. S., Laetz, C. A., Tagal, M., Sloan, C. A., Elizur, A., Benetti, D. D., Grosell, M., Block, B. A., & Scholz, N. L. (2014). Deepwater horizon crude oil impacts the developing hearts of large predatory pelagic fish. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 111(15). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1320950111
- Incardona, J.P., Collier, T.K., Scholz, N.L., 2004. Defects in cardiac function precede morphological abnormalities in fish embryos exposed to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 196 (2), 191–205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2003.11.026.
- Incardona, J.P., Scholz, N.L., 2016. The influence of heart developmental anatomy on cardiotoxicity-based adverse outcome pathways in fish. Aquat. Toxicol. 177, 515–525. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2016.06.016.
- Islam, S. M., Khan, M. M. and Moniruzzaman, M. (2019). Recuperation patterns in fish with reference to recovery of erythrocytes in Barbonymus gonionotus disordered by an organophosphate. *Interntional Journal of Environmental Science and Technology, 16,* 7535–7544.

- Islam, S. M. M., Rahman, M. A., Nahar, S., Uddin, M. H., Haque, M. M and Shahjahan, M. (2019). Acute toxicity of an organophosphate insecticide sumithion to striped catfish *Pangasianodon hypophthalmus. Toxicology Reports*, 6, 957-962.
- Islam, S. M. M., Rohani, M. F., Zabed, S. A., Islam, M. T., Jannat, R., Akter, Y. and Shahjahan, M. (2020). Acute effects of chromium on hemato-biochemical parameters and morphology of erythrocytes in striped catfish *Pangasianodon hypophthalmus*. *Toxicology Reports*, 7, 664-670.
- Jahan, A., Nipa, T. T., Islam, S. M. M., Uddin, M. H., Islam, M. S. and Shahjahan, M. (2019). Striped catfish (*Pangasianodon hypophthalmus*) could be suitable for coastal aquaculture. *Journal of Applied Ichthyology*, 35, 994-1003.
- Job, S. D. and Bellwood, D. R. (1996). Visual Acuity and Feeding in Larval Premnas biaculeatus. Journal of Fisheries Biology, 48, 952–963
- Johann, S., Goßen M, Behnisch PA et al (2020) Combining diferent in vitro bioassays to evaluate genotoxicity of water-accommodated fractions from petroleum products. Toxics 8(2):45
- Johnson, B. T. (2005). Microtox acute toxicity test. Small-Scale Freshwater Toxicity Investigations. Dordrecht, Berlin/Heidelberg, 69-105.
- Joshi, P. K., Bose, M. and Harish, D. (2002). Changes in certain haematological parameters in a siluroid catfish *Clarias batrachus* (Linn) exposed to cadmium chloride. *Pollution Research* 21, 129-131.
- Kang, H. J., Jung, Y. and Kwon, J. H. (2019). Changes in ecotoxicity of naphthalene and alkylated naphthalenes during photodegradation in water. *Chemosphere*, 222, 656-664
- Kawahara, F. K., (1969). Identification and differentiation of heavy residual oil and asphalt pollutants in surface waters by comparative ratios of infrared absorbances. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 3, 150-153.
- Keramea, P., Spanoudaki, K., Zodiatis, G., Gikas, G. and Sylaios, G. (2021). Oil spill modeling: a critical review on current trends, perspectives, and challenges. *Journal of Marine Science* and Engineering, 9, 181.
- Kersten, S. and Arjona, F.J. (2016). Ion transport in the zebrafish kidney from a human disease angle: possibilities, considerations, and future perspectives. *American Journal of Physiology Renal Physiology*, 312, (1), 172–189.

- Khan, R. A. and Payne, J. F. (2005). Influence of a crude oil dispersant, Corexit 9527, and dispersed oil on capelin (*Mallotus villosus*), Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*), longhorn sculpin (*Myoxocephalus octodecemspinosus*), and cunner (*Tautogolabrus adspersus*). Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 75(1), 50-56.
- Khatun, M. H., Rahman, M. L., Saha, N., Suliaman, M., Razzak, M. A. and Islam, S. M. M. (2021). Behaviour and morphology pattern analysis of Indian major carps fingerlings exposed to commercial diesel oil suspension. *Chemistry and Ecology*, *37*, 437-449.
- Khursigara, A. J., Perrichon, P., Martinez, B. N., Burggren, W. W. and Esbaugh, A. J. (2017). Cardiac function and survival are affected by crude oil in larval red drum, *Sciaenops* ocellatus. Science of the Total Environment, 579, 797–804.
- Khursigara, A.J., Johansen, J.L. and Esbaugh, A.J. (2018). Social competition in red drum (*Sciaenops ocellatus*) is influenced by crude oil exposure. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 203, 194-201.
- Khursigara, A. J., Perrichon, P., Martinez Bautista, N., Burggren, W.W., Esbaugh, A.J., 2017. Cardiac function and survival are affected by crude oil in larval red drum, Sciaenops ocellatus. *Science of the Total Environment*, 579, 797–804.
- Khursigara, A. J., Lauren, E. R., Jacob L. J. and Andrew J. E., (2021). Behavioral Changes in a Coastal Marine Fish Lead to Increased Predation Risk Following Oil Exposure. Environmental Science and Technology, 55 (12), 8119–27.
- Kim, D., Jung, J. H., Ha, S. Y., An, J. G., Shankar, R., Kwon, J. H., Yim, U. H. and Kim, S. H. (2019). Molecular level determination of water accommodated fraction with embryonic developmental toxicity generated by photooxidation of spilled oil. *Chemosphere*, 237, 124346
- Kirby, A. R., Cox, G. K., Nelson, D., Heuer, R. M., Stieglitz, J. D., Benetti, D. D., Grosell, M. and and Crossley, D. A. (2019). Acute crude oil exposure alters mitochondrial function and ADP affinity in cardiac muscle fibers of young adult Mahi-mahi (*Coryphaena hippurus*). *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part- C: Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 218, 88–95.
- Knecht, A. L., Truong, L., Marvel, S. W., Reif, D. M., Garcia, A., Lu, C., Simonich, M. T., Teeguarden, J. G. and Tanguay, R. L. (2017). Transgenerational inheritance of

neurobehavioral and physiological deficits from developmental exposure to benzo[a] pyrene in zebrafish. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, *329*, 148–157.

- Kochhann, D., De Azevedo Brust, S. M., Domingos, F. X. V. and Val, A. L. (2013). Linking hematological, biochemical, genotoxic, and behavioral responses to crude oil in the Amazon fish Colossoma macropomum (cuvier, 1816). Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 65(2), 266–275.
- Kopp, R., Palíková, M., Navrátil, S., Kubíček, Z., Ziková, A. and Mareš, J. (2010). Modulation of biochemical and haematological indices of silver carp (*Hypophthalmichthys molitrix* Val.) exposed to toxic cyanobacterial water bloom. *Acta Veterinaria Brno*, 79, 135-146.
- Kori-Siakpere, O. (2000). Petroleum induced alterations in the African catfish, Clarias gariepinus (Teugels 1984): II-Growth factors. Nigerian Journal of Environmental Sciences and Technology, 2, 87-92.
- Lari, E., Abtahi, B., Hashtroudi, M. S., Mohaddes, E. and Doving, K. B. (2015). The effect of sublethal concentrations of the water-soluble fraction of crude oil on the chemosensory function of Caspian roach, Rutilus caspicus (YAKOVLEV, 1870). *Environmntal Toxicology and Chemistry*, 34 (8), 1826–1832
- Larsen, E.H., Deaton, L.E., Onken, H., O'Donnell, M., Grosell, M., Dantzler, W.H. and Weihrauch, D. (2014). Osmoregulation and excretion. *Comprehensive Physiology*. *American Cancer Society*, 405–573.
- Laurel, B. J., Copeman, L. A., Iseri, P., Spencer, M. L., Hutchinson, G., Nordtug, T., Donald, C.
 E., Meier, S., Allan, S. E., Boyd, D. T., Ylitalo, G. M., Cameron, J. R., French, B. L., Linbo,
 T. L., Scholz, N. L. and Incardona, J. P. (2019). Embryonic Crude Oil Exposure Impairs
 Growth and Lipid Allocation in a Keystone Arctic Forage Fish. *IScience*, *19*, 1101–1113.
- Lavoie, J. M. (2016). Dynamics of hepatic and intestinal cholesterol and bile acid pathways: The impact of the animal model of estrogen deficiency and exercise training. *World Journal of Hepatology*, 8(23), 961–975.
- Li, Z. H., Li, P. and Wu, Y. (2021). Effects of waterborne mercury at different temperatures on hematology and energy metabolism in grass carp (*Ctenopharyngodon idella*). *International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, 18, 1489-1498.
- Li, X., Xiong, D., Ding, G., Fan, Y., Ma, X., Wang, C., Xiong, Y. and Jiang, X., (2019). Exposure to water-accommodated fractions of two different crude oils alters morphology, cardiac

function and swim bladder development in early-life stages of zebrafish. *Chemosphere* 235, 423–433.

- Li, X., Xiong, D., Ju, Z., Xiong, Y., Ding, G. and Liao, G. (2021). Phenotypic and transcriptomic consequences in zebrafish early-life stages following exposure to crude oil and chemical dispersant at sublethal concentrations. *Science of the Total Environment*, 763, 143053.
- Luch, A. (2005). Nature and nurture—lessons from chemical carcino- genesis. *Nature Reviews Cancers*, 5(2),113–125.
- Mager, E. M., Pasparakis, C., Stieglitz, J. D., Hoenig, R., Morris, J. M., Benetti, D. D. and Grosell,
 M. (2018). Combined effects of hypoxia or elevated temperature and Deepwater Horizon
 crude oil exposure on juvenile mahi-mahi swimming performance. *Marine Environmental Research*, 139, 129–135.
- Mager, E.M., Esbaugh, A.J., Stieglitz, J.D., Hoenig, R., Bodinier, C., Incardona, J.P., Scholz, N.L.,
 Benetti, D.D. and Grosell, M. (2014). Acute embryonic or juvenile exposure to Deepwater
 Horizon crude oil impairs the swimming performance of mahi-mahi (*Coryphaena hippurus*). Environmental Science and Technology, 48, 7053–7061.
- Mager, E.M., Pasparakis, C., Schlenker, L.S., Yao, Z., Bodinier, C., Stieglitz, J.D., Hoenig, R., Morris, J.M., Benetti, D.D. and Grosell, M. (2017). Assessment of early life stage mahimahi windows of sensitivity during acute exposures to Deepwater Horizon crude oil. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 36, 1887–1895.
- Magnuson, J. T., Bautista, N. M., Lucero, J. A., Lund, A. K., Xu, E. G., Schlenk, D., Burggren, W. W. and Roberts, A. P. (2020). Exposure to Crude Oil Induces Retinal Apoptosis and Impairs Visual Function in Fish. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 54(5), 2843–2850.
- Malakahmad A. H., Law, M. X., Ng, K.W. and Abd, M.T.S. (2016). The Fate and Toxicity Assessment of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs) in Water Streams of Malaysia. *Procedia Engineering*, 148, 806–811.
- Mandic, M., Pan, Y.K., Gilmour, K.M. and Perry, S.F. (2020). Relationships between the peak hypoxic ventilatory response and critical O2 tension in larval and adult zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). *Journal of Experimental Biology*.
- Martin, C. W. (2017). Avoidance of oil contaminated sediments by estuarine fishes. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 576, 125–134.

- McDonald, M.D. (2007). The renal contribution to salt and water balance. *Fish Osmoregulation*. *CRC Press*, 23.
- McGruer, V., Pasparakis, C., Grosell, M., Stieglitz, J.D., Benetti, D.D., Greer, J.B. and Schlenk,
 D. (2019). Deepwater horizon crude oil exposure alters cholesterol biosynthesis with implications for developmental cardiotoxicity in larval mahi-mahi (*Coryphaena hippurus*).
 Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Toxicology & Pharmacology, 220, 31-35.
- Meador, J.P., Sommers, F.C., Ylitalo, G.M. and Sloan, C.A. (2006). Altered growth and related physiological responses in juvenile Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) from dietary exposure to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs). *Canadian Joural of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 63, 2364–2376.
- Milinkovitch, T., Godefroy, J. and Théron, M. (2011). Toxicity of dispersant application: biomarkers responses in gills of juvenile golden grey mullet (*Liza aurata*). *Environmental Pollution 159*(10),2921–2928
- Monteiro, S.M., Mancera, J.M., Fontainhas, F.A. and Sousa, M. (2005). Copper induced alterations of biochemical parameter in the gill and plasma of *Oreochromis niloticus*. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Toxicology & Pharmacology, 141*, 375–383.
- Mu, X., Liu, J., Yang, K., Huang, Y, Li, X., Yang, W., Qi, S., Tu, W., Shen, G. and Li, Y. (2018). Diesel water-accommodated fraction induced lipid homeostasis alteration in zebrafish embryos. *Environmental Pollution*, 242, 952–961.
- Nahrgang, J., Bender, M.L., Meier, S., Nechev, J., Berge, J. and Frantzen, M. (2019). Growth and metabolism of adult polar cod (*Boreogadus saida*) in response to dietary crude oil. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 180, 53–62.
- Nahrgang, J., Camus, L., Carls, M.G., Gonzalez, P., Jonsson, M., Taban, I.C., Bechmann, R.K., Christiansen, J. and Hop, H. (2010). Biomarker response in polar cod (*Boreogadus saida*) exposed to the water soluble fraction of crude oil. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 97, 234–242.
- Nahrgang, J., Dubourg, P., Frantzen, M., Storch, D., Dahlke, F. and Meador, J.P. (2016). Early life stages of an arctic keystone species (*Boreogadus saida*) show high sensitivity to a watersoluble fraction of crude oil. *Environmental Pollution*, 218, 605–614.

- Nicodem, D. E., Guedes, C. L. B., Conceic, a[~] o M., Fernandes, Z., Severino, D., Correa, R. J., Coutinho, M. C. and Silva, J. (2001). Photochemistry of petroleum. *Progress in Reaction Kinetics and Mechanism*, 26, 219-238.
- Nogueira L, Rodrigues AC, Trídico CP, Fossa CE, de Almeida EA (2011) Oxidative stress in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) and armored catfish (*Pterygoplichthys anisitsi*) exposed to diesel oil. Environ Monit Assess. 180(1-4): 243-255.
- Nogueira, L., Sanches, A. L. M., da Silva, D. G. H., Ferrizi, V. C., Moreira, A. B. and de Almeida,
 E. A. (2011). Biochemical biomarkers in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) after short-term exposure to diesel oil, pure biodiesel and biodiesel blends. *Chemosphere*, 85(1), 97–105.
- Nordtug, T., Olsen, A. J., Altin, D., Overrein, I., Storøy, W., Hansen, B. H. and De Laender, F. (2011). Oil droplets do not affect assimilation and survival probability of first feeding larvae of North-East Arctic cod. *Science of the Total Environment*, 412–413, 148–153.
- O'Shaughnessy, K.A., Forth, H., Takeshita, R. and Chesney, E.J. (2018). Toxicity of weathered Deepwater horizon oil to bay anchovy (*Anchoa mitchilli*) embryos. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 148, 473–479.
- Oliveira, M., Pacheco, M. and Santos, M. A. (2007). Cytochrome P4501A, geno- toxic and stress responses in golden grey mullet (*Liza aurata*) following short-term exposure to phenanthrene. *Chemosphere*, 66(7), 1284–1291.
- Oliveira, M., Pacheco, M. and Santos, M.A. (2008). Organ specifc antioxidant responses in golden grey mullet (*Liza aurata*) following a short-term exposure to phenanthrene. *Science of the Total Environment*, 396(1), 70–78.
- Olsvik, P. A., Hansen, B. H., Nordtug, T., Moren, M., Holen, E. and Lie, K. K. (2011). Transcriptional evidence for low contribution of oil droplets to acute toxicity from dispersed oil in first feeding Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*) larvae. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology- C Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 154(4), 333–345.
- Outtandy, P., Russell, C., Kleta, R. and Bockenhauer, D. (2019). Zebrafish as a model for kidney function and disease. *Pediatric Nephrology*, *34*, (5), 751–762.

- Overton, E. B., Laseter, J. L. and Mascarella, W. (1980). Photo-chemical oxidation of IXTOC-I oil. In Proceedings of a Symposium on Preliminary Results from the September 1979 Researcher/Pierce Ixtoc-1 Cruise, *Key Biscayne*, Florida, June 9–10, 1980: 1980.
- Özdemir, S., Altun, S. and Arslan, H. (2017). Imidacloprid exposure cause the histopathological changes, activation of TNF-α, iNOS, 8-OHdG biomarkers, and alteration of caspase 3, iNOS, CYP1A, MT1 gene expression levels in common carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L.), *Toxicology Reports*, *5*, 125-133.
- Pacheco, M. and Santos, M. A. (2001). Biotransformation, endocrine, and genetic responses of Anguilla anguilla L. to petroleum distillate products and environmentally contaminated waters. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 49(1), 64–75.
- Pan, Y.K., Khursigara, A.J., Johansen, J.L. and Esbaugh, A.J. (2018). The effects of oil induced respiratory impairment on two indices of hypoxia tolerance in Atlantic croaker (*Micropogonias undulatus*). Chemosphere, 200, 143–150.
- Pan, Y.K., Mandic, M., Zimmer, A.M. and Perry, S.F. (2019). Evaluating the physiological significance of hypoxic hyperventilation in larval zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). Journal of Experimental Biology, 222(13), jeb204800.
- Pasparakis, C., Esbaugh, A.J., Burggren, W. and Grosell, M. (2019). Impacts of Deepwater Horizon oil on fish. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Toxicology & Pharmacology*, 224, 108558.
- Payne, J. R. and Phillips, C. R. (1985). Photochemistry of petroleum in water. *Environmental Science and Technology*, *19*, 569-579.
- Payne, J. F., Kiceniuk, J. W., Squires, W. R. and Fletcher, G. L. (1978). Pathological changes in a marine fish after a 6-month exposure to petroleum. *Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada, 35,* 665–667.
- Pereira, T. C., Ferreira, R. A. C., Nogueira, L., da Silva, D. C., Benedito, M. A. and de Almeida,
 E. A. (2010). Biochemical biomarkers in *Oreochromis niloticus* exposed to mixtures of benzo[a]pyrene and diazinon. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 73(5): 858-63.
- Perner, B., Englert, C. and Bollig, F. (2007). The wilms tumor genes wt1a and wt1b control different steps during formation of the zebrafish pronephros. *Developmental Biology*, 309(1), 87–96.

- Perrichon, P., Le, M. K., Akcha, F., Cachot, J., Budzinski, H. and Bustamante, P. (2016). Toxicity assessment of water-accommodated fractions from two different oils using a zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) embryo-larval bioassay with a multilevel approach. *Science of the Total Environment*, 568, 952-966.
- Perrichon, P., Pasparakis, C., Mager, E. M., Stieglitz, J. D., Benetti, D. D., Grosell, M. and Burggren, W. W. (2017). Morphology and cardiac physiology are differentially affected by temperature in developing larvae of the marine fish mahi-mahi (*Coryphaena hippurus*). *Biology Open*, 6, 800-809.
- Perrichon, P., le Menach, K., Akcha, F., Cachot, J., Budzinski, H. and Bustamante, P. (2016). Toxicity assessment of water-accommodated fractions from two different oils using a zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) embryo-larval bioassay with a multilevel approach. *Science of the Total Environment*, 568, 952–966.
- Perrichon, P., Pasparakis, C., Mager, E. M., Stieglitz, J. D., Benetti, D. D., Grosell, M. and Burggren, W. W. (2017). Morphology and cardiac physiology are differentially affected by temperature in developing larvae of the marine fish mahi-mahi (*Coryphaena hippurus*). *Biology Open*, 6 (6), 800–809.
- Peter, V. S., Joshua, E. K., Wendelaar, B.S.E. and Peter, M. C. (2007). Metabolic and thyroidal response in air-breathing perch (*Anabas testudineus*) to water-borne kerosene. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, 152(2):198–205.
- Philibert, D. A., Lyons, D. D. and Tierney, K. B. (2020). Early-life exposure to weathered, unweathered and dispersed oil has persisting effects on ecologically relevant behaviors in sheepshead minnow. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 205, 111289.
- Philibert, D. A., Lyons, D. D., Qin, R., Huang, R., El-Din, M. G. and Tierney, K. B. (2019). Persistent and transgenerational effects of raw and ozonated oil sands process-affected water exposure on a model vertebrate, the zebrafish. *Science of the Total Environment*, 693, 133611.
- Plata, D. L., Sharpless, C. M. and Reddy, C. M. (2008). Photochemical degradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in oil films. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 42, 2432-2438.

- Rahman, M. L., Shahjahan, M. and Ahmed, N. (2021). Tilapia farming in Bangladesh: Adaptation to climate change. *Sustainability*, *13*, 7657.
- Ré, A., Rocha, A. T., Campos, I., Marques, S. M., Keizer, J. J., Gonçalves, F. J. M., Pereira, J. L. and Abrantes, N. (2021). Impacts of wildfires in aquatic organisms: biomarker responses and erythrocyte nuclear abnormalities in *Gambusia holbrooki* exposed in situ. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 28, 51733-51744.
- Rezaei, S. M. and Banaee, M. (2018). Effects of dimethoate alone and in combination with Bacilar fertilizer on oxidative stress in common carp, *Cyprinus carpio. Chemosphere*, 208,101– 107.
- Rider, S.A., Tucker, C.S., Rose, K.N., CA, MacRae, Bailey, M.A., Mullins, J.J. and del-Pozo, J. (2012). Techniques for the in vivo assessment of cardio-renal function in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) larvae. *The Journal of Physiology*, 590(8), 1803–1809.
- Rodríguez-Fuentes, G. and Gold-Bouchot, G. (2004). Characterization of cholinesterase activity from different tissues of Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). *Marine Environment Research*, 58(2-5), 505-509.
- Rogers, N.J., Urbina, M.A., Reardon, E.E., McKenzie, D.J. and Wilson, R.W. (2016). A new analysis of hypoxia tolerance in fishes using a database of critical oxygen level (P_{Crit}). *Conservation Physiology*, *4*(*1*), cow16.
- Rombough, P. (2002). Gills are needed for ionoregulation before they are needed for O₂ uptake in developing zebrafish, *Danio rerio. Journal of Experimental Biology*, 205(12), 1787–1794.
- Rowsey, L. E., Johansen, J. L., Khursigara, A. J. and Esbaugh, A. J. (2020). Oil exposure impairs predator-prey dynamics in larval red drum (*Sciaenops ocellatus*). *Marine and Freshwater Research*, *71*, 99–106.
- Sadiqul, I. M., Ferdous, Z. and Nannu, M. T. A. (2016) Acute exposure to a quinalphos containing insecticide (convoy) causes genetic damage and nuclear changes in peripheral erythrocytes of silver barb, *Barbonymus gonionotus*. *Environmental Pollution*, 219, 949–956.
- Saravana, B. P. and Geraldine, P. (2000). Histopathology of the hepatopancreas and gills of the prawn *Macrobrachium malcolmsonii* exposed to endosulfan. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 50, 331– 339.

- Sayed, A. E. and Hamed, H. S. (2017). Induction of apoptosis and DNA damage by 4-nonylphenol in African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) and the antioxidant role of *Cydonia oblonga*. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety, 139, 97–101.
- Sayed, A. E., Kataoka, C., Oda, S., Kashiwada, S. and Mitani, H. (2018). Sensitivity of medaka (*Oryzias latipes*) to 4-nonylphenol subacute exposure; erythrocyte alterations and apoptosis. *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology*, *58*, 98–104.
- Schlenker, L. S., Welch, M. J., Meredith, T. L., Mager, E. M., Lari, E., Babcock, E. A., Pyle, G. G., Munday, P. L. and Grosell, M. (2019). Damsels in Distress: Oil Exposure Modifies Behavior and Olfaction in Bicolor Damselfish (*Stegastes partitus*). *Environmental Science and Technology*, 53(18), 10993–11001.
- Scott, G. R. and Sloman, K. A. (2004). The effects of environmental pollutants on complex fish behaviour: Integrating behavioural and physiological indicators of toxicity. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 68(4), 369–392.
- Serluca, F.C., Drummond, I.A. and Fishman, M.C. (2002). Endothelial signaling in kidney morphogenesis: a role for hemodynamic forces. *Current Biology*, *12*(6), 492–497.
- Shahjahan, M, Islam, S. M. M., Bablee, A. L., Siddik, M. A. B. and Fotedar, R. (2021). Sumithion usage in aquaculture: benefit or forfeit? *Reviews in Aquaculture*, *13*(4): 2092-2111.
- Shahjahan, M., Khatun, M. S., Mun, M. M., Islam, S. M. M., Uddin, M. H., Badruzzaman, M, and Khan, S. (2020). Nuclear and cellular abnormalities of erythrocytes in response to thermal stress in common carp *Cyprinus carpio*. *Frontiers in Physiology*, *11*, 543.
- Shahjahan, M., Rahman, M. S., Islam, S. M. M., Uddin, M. H. and Al-Emran, M. (2019). Increase in water temperature increases acute toxicity of sumithion causing nuclear and cellular abnormalities in peripheral erythrocytes of zebrafish *Danio rerio*. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 26, 36903-36912.
- Shahjahan, M., Uddin, M. H. and Bain, V. (2018). Increased water temperature altered hemato biochemical parameters and structure of peripheral erythrocytes in striped catfish *Pangasianodon hypophthalmus*. *Fish Physiology and Biochemistry*, 44, 1309-1318.
- Sharmin, S., Salam, M. A., Haque, F., Islam, M. S. and Shahjahan, M. (2016). Changes in hematological parameters and gill morphology in common carp exposed to sub-lethal

concentrations of malathion. *Asian Journal of Medical and Biological Research*, 2(3), 370-378.

- Sheldon, B.C. and Verhulst, S. (1996). Ecological immunology: costly parasite defences and tradeoffs in evolutionary ecology. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 11, 317–321.
- Shi, H., Sui, Y. and Wang, X. (2005). Hydroxyl radical production and oxidative damage induced by cadmium and naphthalene in liver of *Carassius auratus*. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Toxicology & Pharmacology*, 140(1):115–121.
- Simkova, A., Lafond, T., Ondra ckov' a, M., Jurajda, P., Ottov' a, E. and Morand, S. (2008). Parasitism, life history traits and immune defence in cyprinid fish from Central Europe. *BMC Evolotionary Biology*, 8, 29.
- Simonato, J. D., Guedes, C. L. B. and Martinez, C. B. R. (2008). Biochemical, physiological, and histological changes in the neotropical fish *Prochilodus lineatus* exposed to diesel oil, *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 69, 112-120.
- Sinaei, M. (2013). Effect of 16 pure hydrocarbons on the stabilization and lysis of fish (mudskipper: Boleophthalmus dussumieri) erythrocytes. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety, 98, 257–265.
- Sørhus, E., Donald, C. E., da Silva, D., Thorsen, A., Karlsen, Ø. and Meier, S. (2021). Untangling mechanisms of crude oil toxicity: Linking gene expression, morphology and PAHs at two developmental stages in a cold-water fish. *Science of the Total Environment*, *757*, 143896.
- Spier, C., Stringfellow, W. T., Hazen, T. C. and Conrad, M. (2013). Distribution of hydrocarbons released during the 2010 MC252 oil spill in deep offshore waters. *Environmental Pollution*, 173, 224–230.
- Sun, Y., Yu, H. and Zhang, J. (2006). Bioaccumulation, depuration and oxidative stress in fsh *Carassius auratus* under phenanthrene exposure. *Chemosphere* 63(8), 1319–1327.
- Thiendedsakul, P., Boonsoongnern, P., Jarad, P. and Tulayakul, P. (2020). Comparative liver metabolic enzyme activity of cytochrome P450 and glutathione-S-transferase in crocodile (Crocodylus siamensis) and livestock. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Toxicology & Pharmacology, 235, 108784.
- Tierney, K. B., Kennedy, C. J., Gobas, F., Gledhill, M., and Sekela, M. (2013). Fish Physiology: Organic Chemical Toxicology of Fishes, (First Edit, Vol. 33). Elsevier Inc.

- Timme-Laragy, A. R., Van, T.L.A. and Linney, E.A. (2009). Antioxidant responses and NRF2 in synergistic developmental toxicity of PAHs in zebrafish. *Toxicological Sciences*, 109 (2), 217–227.
- Tocher, D. R., Bendiksen, E.Å., Campbell, P.J. and Bell, J. G. (2008). The role of phospholipids in nutrition and metabolism of teleost fish. *Aquaculture 280*, 21–34.
- Van-der, O. R., Beyer, J. and Vermeulen, N. P. (2003). Fish bioaccumulation and biomarkers in environmental risk assessment: a review. *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 13(2), 57-149.
- Vasilyev, A., Liu, Y., Mudumana, S., Mangos, S., Lam, P.-Y., Majumdar, A., Zhao, J., Poon, K.-L., Kondrychyn, I. and Korzh, V. (2009). Collective cell migration drives morphogenesis of the kidney nephron. *PLOS Biology*, 7 (1).
- Vaz, A. C., Faillettaz, R. and Paris, C. B. (2021). A coupled Lagrangian-earth system model for predicting oil photooxidation. Frontiers in Marine Science, 8
- Vazquez, R., Karem, N. and Warren, W. B. (2022). Metabolic Responses to Crude Oil during Early Life Stages Reveal Critical Developmental Windows in the Zebrafish (Danio Rerio). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part - C: Toxicology and Pharmacology 254, 109274.
- Vieweg, I., Bilbao, E., Meador, J.P., Cancio, I., Bender, M.L., Cajaraville, M.P. and Nahrgang, J. (2018). Effects of dietary crude oil exposure on molecular and physiological parameters related to lipid homeostasis in polar cod (*Boreogadus saida*). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part - C: Toxicology and Pharmacology, 206–207, 54–64.
- Vieweg, I., Morgan L. B., Philipp R. S., Haakon H. and Jasmine N. (2022). Effects of Chronic Crude Oil Exposure on the Fitness of Polar Cod (*Boreogadus Saida*) through Changes in Growth, Energy Reserves and Survival. *Marine Environmental Research 174*, 105545.
- Vignet, C., Devier, M.H., le Menach, K., Lyphout, L., Potier, J., Cachot, J., Budzinski, H., B´egout, M.L. and Cousin, X. (2014). Long-term disruption of growth, reproduction, and behavior after embryonic exposure of zebrafish to PAH-spiked sediment. *Environmental Science* and Pollution Research, 21, 13877–13887.
- Vignet, C., Le Menach, K., Lyphout, L., Guionnet, T., Frère, L., Leguay, D., Budzinski, H., Cousin, X. and Bégout, M. L. (2014). Chronic dietary exposure to pyrolytic and petrogenic

mixtures of PAHs causes physiological disruption in zebrafish—part II: behavior. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 21(24), 13818–13832.

- Vosyliene, M.Z., Kazlauskiene, N. and Jok^{*}sas, K. (2005). Toxic effects of crude oil combined with oil cleaner simple green on yolk-sac larvae and adult rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss. Environmental Science and Pollution Research. 12, 136–139.
- Winkaler, E. U., Santos, T. R. M., Joaquim, G., Machado-Neto, J. G. and Martinez, C. B. R. (2007). Acute lethal and sublethal effects of neem leaf extract on the neotropical freshwater fish *Prochilodus lineatus*. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part - C: Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 145, 236-244.
- Xu, E. G., Khursigara, A. J., Magnuson, J., Hazard, E. S., Hardiman, G., Esbaugh, A. J., Roberts, A. P. and Schlenk, D. (2017). Larval Red Drum (*Sciaenops ocellatus*) Sublethal Exposure to Weathered Deepwater Horizon Crude Oil: Developmental and Transcriptomic Consequences. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 51(17), 10162–10172.
- Xu, E. G., Magnuson, J. T., Diamante, G., Mager, E., Pasparakis, C., Grosell, M., Roberts, A. P. and Schlenk, D. (2018). Changes in MicroRNA- MRNA Signatures Agree with Morphological, Physiological, and Behavioral Changes in Larval Mahi-Mahi Treated with Deepwater Horizon Oil. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 52, 13501–13510.
- Xu, E.G., Khursigara, A.J., Magnuson, J., Hazard, E.S., Hardiman, G., Esbaugh, A.J., Roberts, A.P. and Schlenk, D. (2017). Larval red drum (*Sciaenops ocellatus*) sublethal exposure to weathered Deepwater Horizon crude oil: developmental and transcriptomic consequences. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 51 (17), 10162–10172.
- Zito, P., Podgorski, D. C., Johnson, J., Chen, H., Rodgers, R. P., Guillemette, F., Kellerman, A. M., Spencer, R. G. M. and Tarr, M. A. (2019). Molecular level composition and acute toxicity of photosolubilized petrogenic carbon. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 53, 8235-8243.